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TOWEER K1 I-FUND

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 March 2023

Notes 2023 2022

JPY JEY
ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7.8 34087074017 27083247670
Amounts due from TK1 J Limited 14 20,074,791 223,313,700
Cash and cash equivalents 9 1,122,529 942 080
TOTAL ASSETS 34117271337 27307503450
LIABILITIES
Redemption payable 12 - 200,079,276
Performance fees payable 5 835,824 920 -
Accounts payable and acerued hiabilities 33,370,850 27,198 892
TOTAL LIABILITIES 869,195,770 227.278.168
EQUITY
Unit capital 11 33.248,075,567  27,080,225,282
TOTAL EQUITY 33248075567 27080225282
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 34117271337 27307503 450
NUMBEE. OF EEDEEMAELE UNITS IN ISSUE 10 118,531 118564
NET ASSET VALUE PER REDEEMABLE UNIT 11 280,501 228 402
A x'l

Signed for and on behalfof Signed for and on behalf of
HSBC Tmustee (Cayman) Limited Tower Asset Management Limited
Trustee Manager

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR. LOSS AND OTHER. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 March 2023

INCOME
Sundry income

EXPENSES

Andit fee

Investment management fae
Legal and professional fees
Performance fees
Admimistration fee

Other expenses

LOSS BEFORE INVESTMENT AND EXCHANGE
DIFFERENCES

INVESTMENT AND EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES

Net change in unrealised gains/(losses) on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

et realised gams on financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
Net exchange differences

FROFIT/(LOSS) FOR. THE YEAE. AND TOTAL
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR. THE YEAR.

Lt i

2023 2022
PY IPY

105 .

3,713,640 3,044372
302,057,481 201,760,904
1.993.156 1.554.546
835,824,920 _
1,628,663 1,355,200
2.477.076 2,406,935
1,148,594.038 300,130,957
(1.148,594.833)  (300,130.957)
6,974.093.836  (6,965,001,200)
351,085,053  6,548.903,867
(249,621) (350,204)
7.324,929.268 (416 447,537)
6,176,334,435 (716,578.494)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 March 2023

Balance as at 31 March 2021
Subscriptions during the year
Fedemptions during the year

Profit for the year and total
comprehensive income for the year

Balance as at 31 March 2022
Fedemptions duning the year

Profit for the vear and total
comprehensive income for the year

Balance as at 31 March 2023

EDINETOOOO
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MNumber of

umits Unit Total
outstanding capital equity
IPY IPY

130,768 31099074900  31,099,074.900
17,300 3864716200  3.864,716.200
(29.504)  (7.166,987,324)  (7.166,987324)
- (716,578,494) (716,578 494)

118,564 27080225282  27.080.225282
(33) (8.484,150) (8.484.150)

- 6,176334435 6176334433

118531 33248075567 33248075567

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fimancial statements

7

83/213



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TOWER K1 J-FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 March 2023
Notes 2023 2022
IBY JFY
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) for the year and total comprehensive meome
for the year 6,176,334.435 (716,578 494)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - (3,844 242 936)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 321,352,542 7.361,703,281
et change in unrealised (gains)losses on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (6,974,093 836) 6,963,001,200
Net realised gains on financial assets at fair valoe through
profit or loss (351,085,053)  (6,548,903,867)
Decrease in amounts due from TE1 J Linited 194 238 909 230,016,610
Increase/(decrease) in performance fee payable £35,824020 (115,435,055)
Increase/{decrease) in accounts payable and accrmed habilities 6,171,958 (5,402 455)
Net cash inflows from operating activities 208,743,875 4,126,158 284
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of redeemable units 12 - 3,864, 716,200
Fedemptions of redeemable units 12 (208,563.426) (7,990,714, 538)
Met cazh outflows from financing activities (208,563.426) (4,125,998 338)
NET INCEREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 180,449 139,946
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year o 042 080 782134
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 9 1,122.529 942 080
AMNATLYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank ] 1,122.529 942 080

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
8
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

L THE FUND

Tower K1 J-Fund (the “Fund”) is registered under the Cayman Islands Mutual Funds Act and is
established under the laws of the Cayman Islands and constituted by a Tmst Deed dated 30 March
1999 as amended. made between Bank of Bermuda (Cayman) Limited as trustee and Tower Asset
Management Limited as manager (the “Manager™). Effective from 29 December 2017, Bank of
Bermuda (Cayman) Limited (the “Retinng Trustee™) was retired and HSBC Trustee (Cayman)
Limited was appointed as the trustee (the “Tmstee™) of the Fund on the same date.

The Fund commenced operations on 30 March 1999. It operates as a feeder fimd to TE1 J Linuted
(the “Master Fund™), an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 January 2001
and a regulated mutual fimd under section 4(3) of the Mutual Funds Act (2013 Revision) of Cayman
Islands, whose investment objectrves nurror those of the Fund. The Manager of the Master Fund 13
also Tower Asset Management Limited The Fund iz currently the only investor in the Master Fund.
Fedeemable participating shares in the Master Fund were issued to the Trustes to be held in trust for
the Fund. The Fund and the Master Fund are referred to as the “Funds™ in these financial statements.

The Fund's investment objectives are to preserve capital and to maximise capital gains, regardless of
the direction of global stock markets or mterest rates. The Manager will seek to achieve the investment
objectives of the Fund principally by identifying and acquinng undervalued equities and derivative
instruments of selected Japanese companies in order to effect hedged positions and will identify such
other investments as may otherwise mean the objectives of the Fund can be attained.

The Manager will seek to achieve the mvestment objectives of the Fund by creating leveraged and
risk controlled hedged positions principally invelving Japanese common stocks or related derivative
mstruments. When it believes such inwvestments offer opportumities consistent with the Fund’s
investment objectives, the Manager may also identify and acquire equity securities, equity warrants,
mterests in other equity funds, convertible bends and other denivative instroments. and may establish
uncoverad long or short positions, as Investment rather than as part of hedged positions.

The Manager will not be restricted m the types of hedgmg mechamsms or other sirategies it may use
provided that it believes that they are appropnate to achieve the Fund’s investment objectives. The
hedging mechanizms will include use of varions forms of securities options, index fotures and options.
Hedging positions may include Japanese Eure-dollar equity warrants, other warrants, convertible bond
portfolios and common stocks which, from time to time, may be different from those actoally covered
by related warrants or convertible bonds hedged. Uncovered long or short positions may occur during
the process of creating or unwinding a hedged position or may be acquired as part of the Fund's
investment strategy. It is anticipated that positions will generally be held between two months and
three months. While transactions may be effected m amy currency, the hManager does not intend to use
curmrency positions as part of its investment strategy.

As at the end of reporting date, the Fund owns 100% of the redeemable participating shares of the
Master Fund.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

L THE FUND (contimmued)

On 31 May 2023, a termination notice was issued by the Manager to the Fund’s umitholders detailing
the upcoming retirement of the Chief Investment Officer (“CIO™) of the Manager (“Imternal
Unitholder™), who is also a substantial wmitholder, and, as such, in the absence of the CIO or a
replacement thereof, the Manager considers it is no longer viable to contime operatmg the Fumds
(“Proposed Closing Down™). As a result of the Proposed Clesing Deown, Unitholders (except for the
Internal Umthelder) may voluntanly submit a Realisation Fequest Form to the Begistrar's Agent to
request for the realisation of Umits on the Dealing Day of 30 June 2023 or on the Last Realisation Day
of 31 July 2023 in the manner set out in the Explanatory Memorandum. In the event that there are
Unitholders other than the Internal Umitholder remaming in the Funds (“Femaiming External
Umitholders™) after 31 July 2023 (“Last Realisation Day™), the Trust Deed will be proposed to be
amended to enable the Manager to exercise its power to mutiate the compulsory realisation of Units
(“Compulscry Realisation™) held by the Remaining External Unitholders (“"Compulsory Realisation
Provisions™).

Once all outstanding units have been realized and the Funds do not hold any assets, the Fonds will be
deregistered.

11 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PEEPARATION

The financial staternents have been prepared in accordance with IFR.Ss issued by the Intermational
Accounting Standard Board (“TASB™) and inferpretations issued by the Internatiomal Financial
Eeporting Interpretation Committee of IASE.

The financial statements have been prepared on a histonieal cost basis, except for financial assets and
liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, that have been measured at fair value. The
preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFES requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the finaneial statements and
accompanying notes. Management believes that the estimates utilised in preparing its financial
statements are reasonable and prudent. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

The financial statements are presented in Japanese Yen (CJPY ™) and all values are rounded to the
nearest Yen, except where otherwise indicated.

The appended financial statements of the Master Fund form an integral part of the Fund's financial
statements.

As explamed m note 1 to the financial statements, the Chief Investment Officer of the Manager, who
iz also a substantial unitholder, intends to retire and the Proposed Closing Down of the Fund 1z
currently in progress. Accordingly, in the opinion of the Trustee of the Fund, the going concem basis
is no longer applicable and these financial statements have been prepared on a liquidation basis.

The Trustee of the Fund has assessed the camrying values of the Fund’s assets and hiabilities and
determined that these approximate the net realisable valoes and estimated settlement amounts,
respectively. Estimated liquidation costs amounting to JEY 10,000,000 have been accrued at the
Master Fund level on 30 June 2023. Where the provision 1s in excess of fiture costs untl the
termination date, such excess will be refinded to the mvestors as part of the further distnbution. If the
provision is not sufficient to cover future costs, the fees will be bome by the Manager.

10
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

21 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAT REPORTING STANDARDS
{(“IFES™)

The Fund has adopted the following new and amended standards and interpretations for the first time
for the current year's financial statements, which are applicable to the Fund:

*  Amendments to IAS 8 (effective for annual peniods beginning on or after January 1, 2023)

Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to LAS 8

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 8, in which it introduces a definition
of “accoumting estimates”. The amendments clanify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies and the correction of emmors. Also,
they clanfy how entities use measurement techniques and imputs to develop accounting
estimates.

The amendments are effective for annnal reporting periods beginming on or after January 1,
2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that
occur on of after the start of that penod. Earlier application 13 pernmtted as long as this fact 15
disclosed. The amendments have no material mipact on the Fund.

*  Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 (effective for ammal periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2023)

Disclosure of Accounting Pelicies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2
In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and TFES Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements, in which 1t provides smdance and examples to help entifies
apply mateniality judgements to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help
entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the
requirement for entities to disclose their *sigmificant’ accounting policies with a requrement
to disclose their “‘material” accounting policies and adding pidance on how entities apply the
concept of matenality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures. The
amendments to LAS 1 are applicable for anmmal periods beginning on or after Jamuary 1, 2023
with earlier application permitted. Since the amendments to the Practice Statement 2 prowvide
non-mandatory guidance on the apphcation of the definition of material to accounting policy
information, an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The amendments have
no material impact on the Fond.

22 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
The Fund has not applied any new and revised IFF.Ss that have been 1ssued but are not yet effective

for the year ended 31 March 2023 in these financial statements. There are no standards, interpretations
or amendments to existing standards that are expected to be relevant to the Fund's financial statements

upon becoming effective.

11
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Assessment as investment entity

Entities that meet the definition of an mvestment entity within IFR.S 10 are required to measure their
subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss rather than consolidate them. The criteria which define
an investment entity are, as follows.

{a) An entity that obtamns funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those
nvestors with investment services

() An entity that commits to its investors that its business purpose is to invest fimds solely for
refums from capital appreciation, investment mcome or both

{c) An entity that measores and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its
investments on a fair value basis

As detailed in note 1 to the financial statements, the investment objective of the Fund and the Master
Fund is to preserve capital and to maximise capital gains, regardless of the direction of global stock
markets or interest rates, by identifying and acquinng undervalued equities and denivative instruments
of selected Japanese companies in order to effect hedged positions and will identify such other
Investments as may otherwise mean the objectives of the Fund can be attained.

Substantially all investments are reported at fair value in the Fund s imvestors report, andited financial
statements and internal reports. The Fund does not mtend to hold the investments indefinitely.

Based on the above, the Fund and the Master Fund meet the defimition of an investment entity. These
conclusions will be reassessed on an annual basis.

Fevenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Fund and the
revenue can be reliably measured, on the followng bases:

(&) interest income for all financial instruments not at far valwe through profit or loss is
recognised on a fime proportion basis taking into account the principal outstanding and the
effective interest rate apphicable; and

by dividend income for all financial instnuments at fair value through profit or loss is recognised,
gross of withholding taxes, when the shareholders’ right to receive the payments has been
established, which 1s taken as being the date on which equities are quoted as ex-dividend.

12
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial metroments
{i} Classification
In accordance with IFES 9, the Fund classifies its financial assets and financial liabihties at mmtal
recognition into the categonies of financial assets and finanecial liabilities discussed below.

In applymg that classification, a financial asset or financial hiability is considered to be held for

trading if:

(a) It is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near
term; or

{(b) Om mitial reco o, it iz ufapnrr&l]mnfldmh:ﬁndﬁmmalmstrmnmtsthatm
mmgedtngelf;mm ﬂmrememdmmnfamcentacmalpattemnfshmttem

fit-taking

{c) admwuve{ for a denvative that 13 a financial guarantee contract or a designated

mﬂeﬁectltfehedgmgmmptmstrmnmﬂ

Financial assefs
The Fund classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost or measured
at FVPL on the basis both:

(2) The Company’s business model for managing the financial assets
{b) The contractual cash flow charactenistics of the financial assets

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

(a) Its confractual terms do not nise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments
of principal and interest on g:epnumpal amount cutstanding; or

(b) It is not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash
flows, or to both cellect contractual cash flows and sell; or

(c) At initial recognition, it is imevocably designated as measured at fair value through profit or
loss when domg so eliminates or sigmificantly reduces a measurement or recognition
mconsistency that would otherwise anse from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising
the gaimns and losses on them on different bases.

The Fund includes in this category investment in Master Fund.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A debt instrument is measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets m order to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual
terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount cutstanding. The Fund includes in this category short-term non-financing
receivables including cash and cash equivalents and amounts due from TE1 J Limited.

13
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
Financial mstroments (continued)
(i} Classificafion {confinuad)

Financial habilities

Financial liabilifies measured at fair value through profit or loss

A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit or loss if it meets the defimition of
held for trading.

Financial liabilities measured af amortissed cost
This category includes all finaneial lishilities, other than those classified as at fair valoe through
profit or loss. The Fund mcludes i this l:ategorg amounts relating to redemption payable,
performance fees payable and accrued lisbilities and other payables.

(1} Recognition
The recognises a financial asset or a financial hability when it becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instument Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention m the
marketplace (tegular way trades) are recognised on the trade date that the Fund commits to
purchase or sell the asset.

{nir) Initial measurement
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded m the statement of financial
position at fair value All transaction costs for such instroments are recognised directly m the
statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets and financial habilities (other than those classified as at fair value through profit
of loss) are measured initially at their fair value plus any directly atiributable incremental costs
of acquisition o1 issue.

{tv) Subsequent measurement
After mitial measurement, the Fumd measures financial instruments which are classified as at
FWPL, at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial instruments are
recogmised m profit or loss as they anse. Interest eamed on these Instuments are recorded
separately in interest income.

Debt instruments, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or less, are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any allowance for impammment. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the debt instruments are derecognised or impaired,
as well as through the amortisation process.

Finaneial hiabilities, other tham those classified as at fair value through profit or loss are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method Gains and losses are recogmised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process.

14
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2023

3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
Financial mstroments (continued)

{iv) Subsequent measurement (confinued)

The effective mterest method 1s a method of caleulating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
a financial liability and of allocating and recognising the interest income or interest expense in
profit or loss over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated fioture cash payments or receipts through the expected hife of the financial asset or
financial liability to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of
the financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Fund estimates cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments, but does not consider expected
credit losses. The caleulation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premivms or
discounts.

v} Derecogmifion

A finaneial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecogmised where the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired or the Fund has transferred its rights to recerve cash flows from the asset or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash flows in firll without matenal delay to a third party under
a pass-throngh amrangement and either: () the Fund has transferred substantially all the nsks and
rewards of the asset; or (b) the Fund has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the nisks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Fund has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset (or has entered into
a pass-through amrangement), and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the nisks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset 1s recognised to the extent
of the Fund's continuing involvement in the asset In that case, the Fund also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the nghts and obligations that the Fumd have retamed. The Fund derecogmses a financial
liability when the ablization under the hability is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash at bank time deposits with an cnginal matunty of three

months or less, and short term, highly ligquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of

cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash on hand and at bank which are denominated in JFY are carned at cost. Cash denominated in

other currencies are translated into JPY at the applicable rates of exchange at the statement of financial

position date.

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continned)

Amounts due from/to Master Fund

Amounts doe from/to Master Fund include redemption/subscription proceseds payable to/receivable
from the Master Fund for units redeemed/subscribed but not yet settled at the date of the financial
statements.

Subscription/redemption receivable/payable
SubscriptionTedemption receivable/payable includes amoeunts recervable’payable for capital
transactions that have not settled at the date of the financial statements.

Unitholders® capital
A puttable financial mstroment 15 classified as an equity mstroment 1f 1t has all of the following
features:

= It entitles the holder to a pro rata share of the Fund’s net assets in the event of the Fund’s
liguidati

* The instrument i3 in the class of instruments that i3 subordnate fo all other classes of
mstruments.

+ Al financial instroments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of
instruments have identical features.

+  The instument does not include any contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial
asset other than the holder’s rights to a pro rata share of the Fund's net assets.

*  The total expected cash flows attributable to the mstnment over the life of the instrument are
based substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recogmsed net assets or the change
in the fair value of the recognised and unrecogmised net assets of the portfolio over the life of
the instrument.

In addition to the instrument having all the above features, the Fund mwst have no other financial
Instrument or contract that has:

*  Total cash flows based substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets
of the change in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Fund, and

* The effect of substantially restricting or fixing the residual refum to the puttable instrument
holders.

The Fund's redeemable units meet the defimition of puttable instruoments classified as equity
instruments under the revised IAS 32,

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Fund if:

(&) the party 1z a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person,
(i) has control or joint control over the Fund;

(i) has significant influence over the Fund; or
(i) 1is a member of the key management personnel of the Fund or of a parent of the Fund;
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Belated parties (continued)

or
{b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Fund are members of the same trust;

(i) one entity is an asseciate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Fund are joint venfures of the same third party;

(iv) one enfity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of third

) ﬂlﬂuglht}'ISE]JOSt employment benefit plan for the benefit of emplovees of either the Fund
of an entity related to the Fund;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jomntly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vil) a persom identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii} the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Fund or to the parent of the Fund.

Determination of fair value
The Fund measures its investments at fair value at each reporting date.

Fair value 13 ﬂmpncethatwuu]dbe received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liabality takes place either i the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible to the Fund

The fair value of an asset or a hability is measured nsing the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

The fair value for financial mstruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their
quoted price or binding dealer price quotations (last trade prices). Secunities defined in these accounts
as “listed” are traded in an active market. Where the Fund has financial assets and financial liabilities
with offsefting positions in market risks or counterparty credit risk, it has elected to use the
measurement exception provided in IFES 13 to measure the fair value of its net nisk exposure by
applymg last trade price to the net open position as approprate.

All assets and habilities for which fair value 1s measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categonised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
15 sigmficant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Determination of fair value (continued)
# Levell - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabalities
* Level2? —Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that 15 significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
# Level3 —Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurming basis, the Fund
determines whether transfers have occured between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing the
categonisation (based on the lowest level input that is sigmficant to the fair value measurement as a
whole] at the beginning of each reporting penod

Functional and presentation cumency

The functional currency reflects the comency in which the Fund primarily generates and expends cash
from 1ts activities. Transactions in foreign currencies other than the functional currency are recorded
at the rates ruling at the date of transaction.

The functional currency and presentation currency of the Fund are both in Japanese Yen (“JPY™) and
all values are rounded to the nearest Yen, except where otherwise indicated.

Foreign cwmency transactions

These financial statements are presented m Japanese Yen (“JPY™), which is the Fund s functional and
presentation currency. Foreign currency tramsactions are mmtially recorded using the fimctiomal
currency rates raling at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and habilities denomimated n
foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional cwrrency rates of exchange mling at the end of
reporting date. All exchange differences are taken to the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are franslated using the exchange rates as the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
1tems measured at fair value In a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair valne was determined.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, all assets and liabilities of the Fund are denominated in the fimetional
Curmency.

Met gan or loss on financial assets at fair value throu ofit or loss

Met gains or losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are changes in the fair value
of financial assets held for trading or designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit
of loss and exclude interest and dividend income and expenses.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continned)

et gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (contimaed)

Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes in the fair valoe of financial mstruments for the period
and from reversal of the prier period’s unrealised gains and losses for financial instruments which
were realised in the reporting period. Realised gains and losses on disposals of financial mstroments
classified as at fair value through profit or loss are calculated using weighted average method. They
represent the difference between an instmument’s mitial carrying amount and disposal amount, or cash
payments or receipts made on derivative comtracts (excluding payments or receipts on collateral
margin accounts for such Instruments).

Income tax

The Fund 15 exempt from all forms of taxation m the Cayman Islands. meluding meome, capital gains
and withholding taxes. However, in some junsdictions, investment income and capital gains are
subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the income.

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTION

The preparation of financial statements m confornuty with IFRS requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the finaneial statements and
accompanying notes. Management believes that the estimates utilised i preparing its financial
statements are reasonable and prudent. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on a non-going basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the vear in which the estimates are revised and in any future years affected.

Fair value of financial mstruments

When the fair value of financial assets and financial lisbilities recorded in the statement of financial
position cannot be derived from active markets, they are deternmined using a wanety of valuation
techmigues that include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are taken from
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgements are required
in establishing fair values. The judgements mclude considerations of liquidity and model inputs such
as credit risk (both own and counterparty’s), correlation and volatlity. Changes in assumptions about
these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. The models are calibrated
regularly and tested for validity using prices from any observable current market transactions in the
same struments (without modification or repackaging) or based on any available observable market
data.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2023
5. FEES
Investment management fee

The Manager 13 entitled to receive a fee, payable monthly in amears, calculated at an annual rate of
1.0% {may be increased up to a rate of 1.5% of the net asset value on giving three months notice to
mmithelders) on the net asset value of the Fund at each month end The investment management fee
for the year ended 31 March 2023 was JEY302,957 481 (2022: JPY291,769,904). As at 31 March
2023, an mvestment management fee of JPY28,972,699 (2022: JPY23,189,381) was payable to the
Manager and 15 incheded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

The WManager 15 not entitled to any investment management fiee from the Master Fund.

Performance fee

The WManager i3 alzo entitled to receive an annual performance fee at 20% of any increase in net asset
value per unit above an initial 3% increase in the highest net asset valoe per unit (after any performance
fee and amy distribution) as at the last dealing day of any preceding financial year, payable annually
n arrears. The performance fee for the year ended 31 March 2023 was JPY835 824 920 (2022 Nil).
As at 31 March 2023, performance fee of JFY 835,824,920 (2022: Nil) was payable to the Manager.

The Manager 1s not entitled to any performance fee from the Master Fund.

Trustee’s fee and administration fee
The trustee, HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited, is entitled to receive a fixed fee of US$1,000 per month
for feeder find admimistration services, and certain transaction fees, as agreed with the Manager from
time to time.
The admimistration fee for the year ended 31 March 2023 was JPY 1,628,665 (2022: JPY1,355,200).
As at 31 March 2023, an admmistration fee of JPY132,975 (2022: JPY122 055) was payable to the
Trustee and is included in accounts payable and accmed hiabilities.

6. TAXATION
Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Fund is not subject to income or capital gain tax.

The only taxes payable by the Fund are withholding taxes of other countries applicable to dividend
Income.

1 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OF. LOSS

2023 2022
JBY JBY
Investment in the Master Fund 34087074017 27083247670
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

T FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR. VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OF. LOSS (continued)

Met changes in fair value on financial assets through

profit or loss:
Pealised 351,085,053 6,548,903.867
Unrealised 6,974,003 836 (6,965,001_200)
Total gams/{losses) 7,325,178, 889 {416,007 333)

The Fund invested in the Master Fund directly and invested in listed equity secunities through the
Master Fund.

8 FATR. VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Aszzets and liabilities for which fair value 1s measured or disclosed in the financial statement are
categonized within the far value erarchy described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
15 sigmificant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

# Tevell Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or hiabilities

s Tevel? Valuation techmigues for which the lowest level mput that iz significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable

* Level3 Valuation techmigues for which the lowest level mput that is significant to the fair
value measurement 15 unobservable

Assessing the significance of a particular input requires judgement, considening factors specific to the
assets or liabilities.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
PY IPY IPY JBY
2023
Tnvestment in the Master Fund - 34,087,074,017 - 34,087,074,017
2022
Tnvestment in the Master Fund - 27,083,247.670 - 27,083,247.670

9 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank of JPY1,122 529 (2022: JPY942.080) was placed at the Hong Kong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited ("HSBC™), an affiliate of the Trustee, as at end of reporting date. The
entire amount was placed in a non-interest beanng account.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

10. NUMBEE. OF REDEEMABLE UNITS IN ISSUE

2023 2022

Units Units
Balance at begmning of the year 118564 130,762
Izsuances - 17,300
Redemptions (33) (29.504)
Balance at end of the year 118,531 118,564

The redeemable units are offered on each dealing day, 1.e. the last business day of each calendar month.

11 NET ASSET VALUE PEE. EEDEEMABLE UNIT

The calenlation of the net asset value per redeemable unit 1= based on the net assets as at 31 March
2023 of JPY33, 248,075,367 (2022: JPY27.080,225.282) and 118,531 (2022: 118,564) redeemable
umits in issue as at that date.

12, CAPFITAL
The Fund's net assets are represented by outstanding units in the Fund in issue.

The investment objectives of the Fund are to preserve capital and to maximise eapital gains, regardless
of the direction of the global stock markets or interest rates. The Fund aims to achieve this objective
by operating as a feeder fimd that mvests all of its assets mto TE1 J Limited, an exempted company
i ted in the Cayman Islands on 18 Jamary 2001 and a regulated mutual fimd under section
4(3) of the Mutual Funds Act (2020 Rewvision) of Cayman Islands. The Master Fund has the same aim
as the Fund and it achieves the objectives by identifying and acquiring undervalued equities and
denvative mstruments of selected Japanese companies i order to effect hedped positioms. Such
objectives can also be achieved by 1dentifying and acquining equity warrants, interests in other squty
fumds, convertible bonds, and may establish uncovered long or short positions, as investment rather
than as part of hedged positions.

The Fund strives to mvest the subseription meoney of units in investments that meet the Fund’s
mmvesiment objective while maintaimng sufficient liquidity to meet the unitholder’s redemption
request. The Fund may dispose of its financial assets, when necessary, to meet hquidity needs.

The Fund does not have any externally imposed capital requirement.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

12. CAPITAL (continued)
The rights attaching to the umits are as follows:

Units may be redeemed on each dealing day, i.e., the last business day of each calendar month or such
other day or days as the Manager with the approval of the Trustee may from time to time prescribe.
Fedemption price is determined by rounding down to the nearest Japanese Yen of net asset value per
umit. The vnitholder mmst request such a redemption by no later than the dealing deadline, 1.e. at least
10 business days prior to the last business day of each calendar month or the Manager may i its

Unitholders have the right to receive notice of, attend or vote at any general meeting of the Fund. The
mmithelders are entitled to recerve all dividends declared and paid by the Fund. Upon winding up, the
umithelders are entitled to a retum of net assets of the Fund as of the date.

As at 31 March 2023, no subscription proceeds (2022: Nil) was receivable from imvestors and
mdanptmn payments of JFY Nil (2022: JEY200,079,276) was payable to investors. Units are issued
and redeemed in accordance with the Trust Deed.

2023 2022
JPY JBY

Subscription receivable, beginning of the year - -
Subscriptions during the year - 3.864.716.200
Subszcription receivable, end of the year - -

Proceeds from issuance of redeemable wnits - 3,864 716,200
Redemption payable, beginmmg of the year 200,079,276 1,023 806,490
Fedemption during the year 8484150 7166987324
Redemption payable, end of the year - (200,079 276)
Payment for redemption of redeemable umnits 208,563,426 T.000.714 538

13. DISTRIBUTION

No distribution was paid and payable during the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

14, FELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Manager 13 entitled to receive investment management fee and performance fee from the Fund,
with details disclosed in note 5 to the financial statements.

The Fund redeemed shares ameounting to JEY29 074,791 during the year which remain dne from TE1
J Limited as at 31 March 2023 (2022: JPY223,313,700).
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2023

15. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS

Risks arising from holding financial instruments are inherent in the Fund’s activities, and are managed
through a process of ongoing measurement and momtoring. The Fund 15 exposed to credit msk,

Financial instruments of the Fund comprize mvestments m financial assets at fair value through profit
of loss for the purpose of generating a refurm on the investment made by withelders, amounts due

from TK1 J Limited, redemption payable, performance fees payable, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities and cash and cash equivalents.

The Manager is responsible for identifying and controlling the risks that arise from these financial
nstruments.

The risks are measured using a method that reflects the expected impact on the results and net assets
attributable to unitholders of the Fund from reasonably possible changes in the relevant risk variables
such as change in global market environment, interest rate and currency fluctunations, credit ratimgs of
the Fund’s constituents and liqudity nisk and price risk of the investing equity securities. Information
about these msk exposures at the reporting date, measured on this basis, is disclosed below.
Information about the total fair value of financial instriments exposed to nisk, as well as its compliance
with established investment mandate, which are presented by the Investment and Bomowing
Restrictions listed in Explanatory Memorandum, 15 also monitored by the Manager. These mandate
limuits reflect the mvestment strategy and market environment of the Fund, as well as the level of risk
that the Fund is willing to accept, with addifional emphasis on selected mdustries.

Concentration of nisk anses when a number of financial mstruments or contracts are entered into with
the same counterparty, or a number of counterparties engaging in similar business activides, or
conducting activities in the same geographic region, or share smmilar economic features that would
cause their abilities to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes to economic
or political conditions.

This information 15 prepared and reported to relevant parties on a monthly basis as deemed appropriate,
including the Manager and Investment Adwvisor.

The sensitivity analysis presented below is based on management’s best estimate of the sensitivity to
a reasonably possible change. In practice, the actual trading results may differ from the sensitivity
analysis and the differences could be material.

(a) Market Risk

Market nisk 15 the risk that the value of financial assets will fluctuate as a result of changes in
market prices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the mdividual assets or
factors affecting all assets in the market such as interest rates, foreipn exchange rates and equity
prices. Market risk is managed and monitored using sensitivity analysis in equity price of the
mmvestment in Master Fund, and minimised through ensuring that all mvestment activities are
undertaken in accordance with established mandate linmts and mvestment strategies.

24

100/213



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2023

15. FINANCIAL RISKE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (continued)
(a) Market Rizk (contmued)
(1) Interest rate nisk

Imterest rate risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to
changes in market mterest rates.

Az at the end of reporting date, the Fund’s exposure to interest rate nisk 1s considered to be
minimal as all of the Fund’s assets are comprised by mvestment in the Master Fund and
amounts due from the Master Fund and cash balance was placed in a non-interest bearing
account at the bank.

(i) Cumrency nsk
Currency nisk is the nsk that the valne of financial assets or habilities will flnctuate due to
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Fund's exposure to currency risk is minimal as the

Fund’s cash and bank balances and investments which are denominated in currencies other
than Japanese Yen are inimaterial.

(i) Equity price nisk

Equity price risk is the nsk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes
market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individnal stock
of factors affecting all instruments in the market. Equity price risk exposure anses from the
Fund’s investment.

Equity price nsk 1= managed by the Manager by constructing a diversified portfolio of
instruments operated by Master Fund. The following table details the breakdown of the
mvestment asset held by the Fund:
2023 2022
%o of net asset %o of net asset

Financial assets at fair value throngh profit or loss
Investment in Master Fund 102.52 100.01
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

15. FINANCIAL RISKE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (contimmed)
(a) Market Rizk (contmued)
(iti) Equity price risk (continued)
The Manager's best estimate of the effect on the net assets for a year due to a reasonably
possible change in Nikkei 225 Index, with all other vanable held constant, is indicated in
the table below. In practice, the actual trading results may differ from the sensitvity analysis

below and the difference could be material An equivalent increase or decrease m Nikken
225 Index shown below would have resulted in an equivalent impact.

Changes m Nikke: 225 Changes in

Index NAV
From 1 Apnl 2022 to 31 March 2023 H).7%% +22.81%
From 1 Apml 2021 to 31 March 2022 -4.65% -3.96%

Concentration of market risk exposurs

Az of 31 March 2023 and 2022, all of equity secumities of the Master Fund are hsted in
Japan. The concentration of market risk by geographical location is managed by the
diversification of investment in vanous industry sectors. An industry sector analysis of the
Master Fund's financial assets and liabilities 15 disclosed in the Master Fund’s notes to
financial statements.

The Fund continuously monitors the credit standmg of its counterparties and does not expect
any matenial losses as a result of this concentration.

(b) Liquidity Risk

Liguidity nsk 1z the nsk that the Fund will encoumter difficulty m raismg fimds to meet
commitments associated with financial liabilities. Ligmdity nisk may result from an mability to
settle a financial hiability quickly at an amount close to its fair value.

The Fund’s exposure to ligmdity risk is relatively low. as unitholders are allowed to redeem
mvestment in Master Fund on a monthly basis. Further, to prevent the short-term liquidity problem
which may be caused by huge redemptions in a single dealing day to the Fund, the Manager is
entitled at 1ts discretion to limit the aggregate of the number of units redeemed to 10% of the total
number of units in izsue. The Manager may also suspend the night of unitholders to require
redemption of their units and‘or may delay the payment of the redemption price during any period
when the determination of the net asset value of the Fund is suspended.

In addition, the Fund mamtains sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet normal operating
Tequirements.

Maturity analysis for financial labilities

Financial liabilities of the Fund comprise accounts payable and accrued liabilities, performance
fees payable, and redemption payable. These financial liabalities have no contractual matunty but
are typically settled within 30 days.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

15. FINANCIAL RISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (confinned)
() Credit Risk

Credit risk relates to the extent to which the Fund could be impacted by failures by counterparties
to discharge their obligations or commitment they have entered into with the Fund. It could reduce
the amount of future cash flows from financial assets on hand as at the end of reporting date.

The carrying amount of financial assets best represents the maximum credit nsk exposure at the
end of reporting date. This relates also to financial assets camed at amortised cost, as they have a
short-term to matunty. This does not represent the maximum risk exposure that could anse in the
future as a result of changes in values, but represents the current maximum exposure at the
Teporting date.

As of the end of reporting date, the Fund’s financial assets exposed to credit risk amounted to
JPY34, 117271 337 (2022: JPY27307,503,450), which represented the camrying amount of
finanecial assets at fair value through profit or loss, amomnts due from TE1 J Limited and cash and
cash equivalents as presented in the statement of financial position.

The Fund holds no collateral as secunty or any other credit enhancements (2022: Nil). There are
no financial assets that are past due or impaired, or would otherwise be past due or impaired except
for the terms having been renegotiated (2022: Nil).

Concentration of credit risk exposure

Cash held by the Fund is held by HSBC located in Hong Kong. Bankmuptey or msolvency by
HSBC may cause the Fund’s nights with respect to the cash held by HSBC to be delayed or limited.
The Fund monitors its risk by monitoring the eredit quality and financial positions of HSBC. If
the credit quality or the financial position of HSBC deteriorates significantly, the Manager will
move the cash holdings to another bank as scon as practical. The related credit ratings from
Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) for HSBC 13 “A-" (2022 A7)

Financial assets subject fo IFRS 9's impairment requivemenis

The Fund's financial assets subject to the ECL model within TFES 9 are, amounts due from TE1
J Limuited and cash and cash equivalents. At 31 March 2023, the total amount of these financial
assets 13 JPYW30,197 320 (2022: JP¥224, 255 780), on which no loss allowance had been provided.
No assetsmmuﬂdemdlmpanedmdnummmtshwebeenwnttenuﬂ‘dmmgtheym

Financial assets not subject to IFRS 0°s impairment requirements

The Fund is exposed to credit risk on investment in Master Fund. They are not subject to IFES
s impairment requirements as they are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The camying
value of these assets, under IFRS 9 represents the Fund’s maximum exposure to credit nsk on
financial instruments not subject to the IFES 9 impainment requirements on the respective
reporting dates. Hence, no separate maxinmm exposure to credit risk disclosure 15 provided for
these instruments.

The Fund manages its credit and counterparty nsk by monitoring and reviewing the credit ratings,
financial statements and press releases of its custodian and counterparties. As at 31 March 2023
and 31 March 2022, the credit ratings of the Fund's custodian and the counterparties are at
mvestment grade.
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TOWEER K1 I-FUND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

16. EVENTS AFTER. THE REPORTING DATE

Subsequent to the reporting date and up to the date of the financial statements, 26,452 redesmable
participating shares were redeemed for a total redemption payment of JEY 7, 777.569,190.

As disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements, the Manager informed the unitholders of the
proposed closing down of the Funds and amendments to Trust Deed through an issuance of the
Termmation Notice on 31 May 2023 ("Notice Date").

Pursuant to the signed written board resolution dated 26 July 2023, the directors of the Compamy
resolved to approve the Termination of Offering, orderly Realisation of the underlying investments
of each of the Funds and the Last Realisation Day, the forms and terms of the notice to unitholders
{“Notice™) informing them of the Proposed Closmng Down, Last Fedemption Day, Fealisation, the
Proposals and Amendments to the Trust Deed, incloding the forms and terms of the notice to the
Advizer and Agent (“Termination Notice™) to terminate the Ancillary Agreement and a termination
audit in respect of the financial statements for the penod from the day immediately following the end
of the last financial year to the date on which redemption procesds to the unitholders are finally
distributed (including the Over Provision (if any).

There were no other matenial events to be disclosed after the reporting date other than those mentioned
above.

17. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and anthorised for issue by the Manager and Trustee on 4
Angust 2023,
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Audited Financial Statements
With Report of Independent Aunditors
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(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability)

31 March 2023
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Ernst & Young Ltd. Tel: +1 345 949 8444
&2 Fonam Lane Fanc +1 345 945 85809
Camana Bay YL COEm

F.0. Bow 510
Building a better Grand Cayman £¥1-1106
working world CAYMAN ILAMDE
Independent Auditor’s Report
The Board of Directors
TE1 J Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of TK1 J Limited (the “Fund™), which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, statement of changes in net assets atfributable to holders of
redeemable participating shares and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the fimancial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Fund as at 31 March 2023, and its financial performance and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Feporting
Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Audifor s responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants” Infernafional Code
af Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards)
(IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
IESBA Code. We believe that the andit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 1.1 to the financial statements which describes that the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 have not been prepared on a going concern basis.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other Information

Other information consists of the information included in the Fund's management and

administration listing and unaudited investment portfolio. Management is responsible for the
other information.

& member e of breat & Young Gizbal Unites
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Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In comnection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatemnent of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that ate free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concem and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statemenis

Our report 13 made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Our cbjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraund or emror, and to issue an
auditor’s report that inchudes our opinion. Beasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or emmor and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

& member e of breat & Young Gizbal Unites
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Az part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The nisk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraund s
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal confrol relevant to the audit in order to design andit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

* Ewvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting. When such use is inappropriate and management uses an altermative basis
of accounting, we conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the
alternative basis of accounting. We also evaluate the adequacy of the disclosures
describing the alternative basis of accounting and reasens for its use. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our anditor’s report.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned

scope and timing of the aondit and significant awdit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify dunng our andit.

g_f.vlmat ¥ Mm
Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands
4 Angust 2023

& member e of breat & Young Gizbal Unites
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR. LOS5 AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 March 2023

INCOME
Sundry meome

EXPENSES

Administration fee

Andit fee

Dividends on financial liabalities at fair value
through profit or loss

Interest

Legal and professional fees

Stock borrowing fees

Transaction fee expense

Withholding taxes on dividend income

Other operating expenses

FROFIT BEFORE INVESTMENT AND
EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES

INVESTMENT AND EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES

Net change in unrealised losses on financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

et realised gams on financial assets and liabalities

at fair value through profit or loss
Net exchanpge differences

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR. THE YEAR. AND TOTAL
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

2023 2022
IPY IPY
661,811,238 285 673,751
6 27
661,811,244 885,673,778
40,583,817 30,282,769
4727943 3,625,984

. 160,000
31,180,841 8,178,745
842 312 211,925

- 24251
15,788,799 10,174,151
101,356,389 135,583,043
1,970,516 1,100,335
196,450,617 198,341,203
465,360,627 687,332,575

(561.859.822)  (3,806,790.724)

7421870426  2,703.739.759
(192,342) (  378.943)

6850818262  (1,103,420.008)

7,325,178 889 { 416,097 333)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fimancial statements.
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TE1 J LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 March 2023
Notes 2023 2022
JBY JFY
ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7.8 16,418 492 270 23981213917
Amounts due from prime broker 9 76,264,618 -
Dividends recervable 153,346,783 283 847168
Margin deposits 10 31,225,053 3,054,500,742
Other recetvable and prapayments 621,072 356,337
Cash and cash equivalents 11 17,443 510,730 11,454,787
TOTAL ASSETS 34,125 460,335 27,331,572 951
SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY
Share capital 12 10,000 10,000
LIABILITIES (EXCLUDING NET ASSETS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF
REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES)
Amounts due to a prime broker 9 - 17,670,142
Bedemptions payable lé 20,074,791 223,313,700
Other payable and accruals 9.301,727 7.331439
TOTAL LIABILITIES 38,376,518 248315281
WNET ASSETS ATTRIBEUTAELE TO HOLDEES
OF REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES 13 34.087,074,017 27.083,247 670
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY 34,125 460,335 27,331,572 951
NUMEEE. OF REDEEMAELE
PARTICIPATING SHARES TN ISSUE (umits) 13 101,998 103 087
NET ASSET VALUE PER REDEEMABLE
PARTICTPATING SHARE (JPY) 13 334,193 262,722
il frn,qév

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TE1 J LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES

Year ended 31 March 2023

Notes JFY
Balance as at 31 March 2021 31,216.8035,348
Issue of redeemable participating shares 13 3.844242 936
Redemption of redeemable participating shares 13 { 7.361.703,281)
Loss for the year and total comprehensive income for the year {  416,097,333)
Balance as at 31 March 2022 27.083,247,670
Issue of redeemable participating shares 13 -
Redemption of redeemable participating shares 13 { 321,352542)
Profit for the year and total comprehensive mcome for the year 7,325,178 889

Balance as at 31 March 2023 54.087.074,017

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
T
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TE1 J LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 March 2023
Note 2023 2022
JPY IPY
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) for the year and total comprehensive
meome for the year 7.325,178.880 { 416,097.333)
Adjustments for:
Dividend income, net of withholding taxes ( 560.454.849) (750,090,708
Dividends on financial liabalities at fair value
through profit or loss - 160,000
6,764,724 040 (1,166,028 041)
Purchases of financial assets and settlement of financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (5,308 828.601) (4,285,605 834)
Proceeds from financial habihties and sale of financial
azzets at fair value through profit or loss 19.821.560.933 14,825 444 917
et realised gans on financial assets and habalities at
fair value through profit or loss (7421 870,426)  (2,703.739.739)
Net change in unrealised losses on financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 561,859,822 3,806,790,724
(Increase)/'decrease in amounts due from prime broker { 76.264618) 2,342 660
Decrease/(increase) in margin deposits 3023275680 (3,054, 500,738)
Increase in other receivable and prepayments ( 64.735) 336,337
Decrease in amounts due to prime broker (17670142  (3,652,783.574)
Increase/(decrease) in other payable and accruals 1,970,288 ( 587.74:)
Cash generated from operations 17,258,692, 160 3,770,686,269
Dividends received 688,955,234 733,713,603
Dividends paid on securities sold not yet purchased - ( 160,000)
Net cash inflows from operating activities 17,947 647 394 4,504 239 872
CASH FLOWS FR.OM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares - 3,244 242 036
Redemption of redeemable participating shares { 515591.451)  (8,391.719.891)
Net cash outflows from financing activities ( 515591451y (4,347 476.935)
NET INCREASE/{DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 17432055943 ( 43.237.083)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 11 11 454 787 34,691 870
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 11 17443 510,730 11,434 787
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank 11 17443 510,730 11,434 787

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

8

113/213



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TE1l J LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

1 THE FUND

TEK1 J Lomited (the “Fund™) is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 January 2001
under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with lmited liability and
registered under the Cayman Islands Mutual Fonds Act. The Fund commenced operations on 23
January 2002 The Fund iz managed by Tower Asset Management Limited (the “Manager™) and
Tower Investment Management Co. Limited acts as the investment advisor (the “Investment
Advizor”).

The Fund operates as a master find to Tower K1 J-Fund, a unit trost established under the laws of the
Cayman Islands by a Trust Deed dated 30 March 1999 (as amended), for the purpose of holding the
assets of Tower K1 J-Fund. The Fund currently has only one investor, Tower K1 J-Fund (the “Feeder
Fund”). The Fund and the Feeder Fund are referred to as the “Funds™ in these financial statements.

The Fund’s investment objectives are to preserve capital and to maximise capital gains, regardless of
the direction of global stock markets or mterest rates. The Manager will seek to achieve the mnvestment
objectives of the Fund principally by identifying and acquiring undervalued equities and derivative
mstruments of selected Japanese companies in order to effect hedged positions and will identify such
other investments as may otherwise mean the objectives of the Fund can be attained.

The Manager will create leveraged and nsk controlled hedged positions prmcipally mvelving
Japanese common stocks or related derivative instruments. When it believes such investments offer
opportunities consistent with the Fund's mvestment objectives, the Manager may also identify and
acguire eguity securities, equity warrants, interests in other equity fimds, convertible bonds and other
denvative instroments, and may establish uncovered long or short positions, as investment rather than
as part of hedged positions.

HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited was appointed as the admimistrator (the “Admmistrator”™) of the
Fund.

On 31 May 2023, a termination notice was issued by the Manager to the Fund’s unitholders detailing
the upcoming retirement of the Chief Investment Officer ("CIO") of the Manager (“Internal
Unitholder™, who 15 also a substantial umitholder, and, as such, in the absence of the CIO or a
replacement thereof, ﬂleMmgercmsidmsitismlougeriableto contimue operating the Funds
{“Proposed Closing Down™). As a result of the Proposed Closing Down, Unitholders (except for the
Internal Unitholder) may vohmtarily submit a Reahsation Request Form to the Registrar's Agent to
request for the realisation of Units on the Dealing Day of 30 June 2023 or on the Last Realisation Day
of 31 July 2023 in the manner set out in the Explanatory Memorandum In the event that there are
Unitholders other than the Internal Unitholder remaining in the Funds (“Remaining External
Unitholders™) after 31 July 2023 (“Last Realization Day™), the Trust Deed will be proposed to be

amended to enable the Manager fo exercize its power to initiate the compulsery realisation of Units
{“Compulsory Bealisation™) held by the Remaiming External Unitholders (“"Compulsory Fealisation

Provisions™).

Once all outstanding units have been realised and the Funds do not hold any assets, the Funds will be
deregistered.
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

1. THE FUND (contimed)
11  STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial staternents have been prepared in accordance with IFR.Ss issued by the Infernational
Accounting Standard Beard (“IASB™) and interpretations issued by the Intemational Fimancial
Reportimg Interpretation Committes of TASB.

The financial statements have been prepared on a histonical cost basis, except for financial assets and
liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, that have been measured at fair value. The
preparation of the financial statements in conformuty with IFES requres management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Management believes that the estimates utilised in preparing its financial
statements are reasonable and prodent. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

The financial statements are presented in Japanese Yen (“JPY ™) and all values are rounded to the
nearest 1 en, except where otherwise indicated.

As explained in note 1 to the financial statements, the Chief Investment Officer of the Manager, who
15 also a substantial unitholder, mtends to retire and the Proposed Closing Down of the Fund is
currently in progress. Accordingly, in the opinion of the Directors of the Fund, the gomg concem basis
15 no longer applicable and these financial statements have been prepared on a liqmdation basis.

The Directors of the Fund have assessed the camying values of the Fund's assets and liabilities and
determined that these approximate the met realisable values and estimated settlement amounts,
respectively. Estimated liqudation costs amounting to JEY 10,000,000 have been accrmed on 30 June
2023, Where the provision is in excess of future costs until the termination date, such excess will be
refimded to the mvestors as part of the further distribution. If the provision is not sufficient to cover
future costs, the fees will be bome by the Manager.

2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
21 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
{(“IFES™)

The Fund has adopted the following new and amended standards and interpretations for the first time
for the current year's financial statements, which are applicable to the Fund:

*  Amendments to IAS 8 (effective for anmual periods beginning on or after Jannary 1, 2023)

Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to LAS 8

In February 2021, the IASE issued amendments to IAS £, in which it introduces a definition
of “accounting estimates”. The amendments clanify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors. Also,
they clanfy how entities use measurement techniques and imputs to develop accounting
estimates.

10
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TE1l J LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2023

2
21

22

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (contimed)

IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
{“IFE.5") {continued)
The amendments are effective for annual repeorting periods beginming on or after January 1,
2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that
occur on of after the start of that period. Earlier application is permutted as long as this fact is
disclosed. The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Fund.

»  Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 (effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2023)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRES Practice Statement 2
In Febroary 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and IFES Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements, in which it provides gmdance and examples to help entiies
apply mateniality judgements to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help
entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the
requirement for entities to disclose their *significant’ accounting policies with a requirement
to disclose their *material’ accounting policies and adding puidance on how entities apply the
concept of matenality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures. The
amendments to IAS 1 are applicable for anmmal penods beginming on or after Jamuary 1, 2023
with earlier application permitted. Since the amendments to the Practice Statement 2 provide
non-mandatory guidance on the appheation of the definition of material to accounting policy
information, an effective date for these amendments 15 not necessary. The amendments are
not expected to have a material impact on the Fund

STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Fund has not applied any new and revized IFR.Ss that have been 1zsued but are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2023 mn these financial statements. There are no standards, mterpretations
of amendments to existing standards that are expected to be relevant to the Fund's financial statements

upon becoming effective.
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Eevenue recognition
Fevenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Fund and when
the reverme can be reliably measured, on the following bases:

{g) interest income for all financial instruments not at fair valee through profit or loss is recognised
on a time proportion basis taking into account the prineipal outstanding and the effective mterest
rate applicable; and

(k) dividend income for all financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised, gross
of withholding taxes, when the shareholders’ right to receive the payments has been established,
which 15 taken as being the date on which equties are quoted as ex-dividend.

11
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial mstruments

i) Classification
In accordance with IFRS 9, the Fund classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities at imitial
recognition into the categonies of financial assets and financial liabilities discussed below.

In applymg that classification, a financial asset or financial hiability is considered to be held for
trading if:

(a) It is acqured or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near
term; or

(b) On mitial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are
managed to audforwﬁiuh,ﬂmmismidmmufamcemacmalpattemufshm{erm
profit-taking; or

(c) Itis a derivative (except for a derivative that 1s a financial guarantee contract or a designated
and effective hedging mstroment)

Financial assefs
The Fund classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost or measured
at FVPL on the basis both:

{2} The Fund’s business model for managing the financial assets
(b) The coniractual cash flow charactenstics of the financial assets

Financial assets measured at faiv value through profit or loss

(2} Its comtractual terms do not give nise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount cutstanding; or

() It is not held within a business model whose objective iz either to collect contractual cash
flows, or to both collect contractual cash flows and sell; or

() At initial recognition, it is irevocably designated as measured at fair value through profit or
loss when doing so eliminates n{mgm.ﬁca.uﬂ}r reduces ammsmenmlmmgnmun
inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising
the gains and losses on them on different bases.

The Fund inclades in this category:
+ Securities held for trading This category includes equity securities which are acquired
principally for the purpose of generating profit from short term fluctuations in price.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A debt instrument is measured at amortised cost if it 15 held within a business model whose
objective 1s to hold financial assets m order to collect contractual cash flows and ifs contractual
terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount cutstanding. The Fund includes in this category short-term non-financing
receivables meluding amonnts due from a prime broker, dividends recervable and margin deposits.

Financial halnlifies
Financial linbilities measured at fair value through profit or loss
A financial hability is measured at fair value through profit or loss if it meets the defimition of

12

117/213



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2023

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The Fund includes in this category, equity securities sold short since they are classified as held
for trading. The Fund also includes its redeemable shares in this category and the Fund's
accounting policy regarding the redeemable participating shares is described in redeemable
participating shares note.

Financial linbilifies measured at amortized cost

This category includes all finaneial liabilities, other than those classified as at fair value through
profit or loss. The Fund includes in this category amounts relating to amounts due to prime broker,

dividends payable on financial ligbilities at fair value through profit or loss, redemption payable,
accrued liabilifies and other payables.

{1} Recognition
The Fund recogmises a financial asset or a financial liability when 1t becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instroment. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the
markefplace (regular way trades) are recogmised on the trade date that the Fund commuts to
purchase or sell the asset.

fuiz) Initial measurement
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of financial
position at fair value. All transaction costs for such mstruments are recognised directly in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets and financial liabilities (other than theose classified as at fair value through profit
of loss) are measured initially at their fair value plus any directly attnbutable incremental costs of
acquisition or issue.

{iv) Subsequent measurement
After mitial measurement, the Fund measures financial instruments which are classified as at
FVPL, at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial instruments are
reﬂugnisediupmﬁtnrlussastbeymise_ Interest eamed on these mstruments are recorded
separately in interest income.

Debt instruments, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss, are measured
at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. Gains

and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the debt instruments are derecognised or impaired,
as well as through the amortisation process.

Financial liabilities, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest methed. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilifies are derecogmised, as well as through the amortisation process.

The effective mterest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
a financial liability and of allocating and recognising the interest income or inferest expense in
profit or loss over the relevant period. The effactive interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated fiture cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial Liability to the gross camrying amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of the

13
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

{iv) Subsequent measurement (confinued)
financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Fund estimates cash flows
considenng all contractual terms of the financial mstruments, but does not consider expected
credit losses. The caleulation meludes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other preminms or
discommts.

{v}) Derecognifion

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a group of similar
financial assets) 15 derecogmised where the rights to recerve cash flows from the asset have expired
or the Fund has transferred its rights to recetve cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows m full without material delay to a third party under a
pass-through amrangement and either: (z) the Fund has ransferred substantially all the nisks and
rewards of the asset; or (b) the Fund has nerther transferred nor retained substantially all the nisks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Fund has transferred its mght to receive cash flows from an asset (or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement), and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the nsks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset 1= recognised to the extent
of the Fund’ continming involvement in the asset. In that case, the Fund also recognises an
associated liabality. The transferred asset and the associated liabality are measured on a basis that
reflects the nights and obligations that the Fund have retained. The Fund derecognises a financial
hability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Determinaticn of fair value
The Fund measures its investments at fair value at each reporting date.

Fair value is the price that would be recerved to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The fair value measurement 15 based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible to the Fund.

The fair valoe of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their econonyic best
nterest.

The fair value for financial mstruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their
quoted price or binding dealer price quotations (last trade prices). Secunties defmed in these accounts
as “listed”™ are traded in an active market

Where the Fund has financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting positions m market nisks or
counterparty credit sk, it has elected to use the measurement exception provided in IFES 13 to
measure the fair value of itz net risk exposure by applying last trade price to the net open position as
appropriate.

14
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

Determination of fair value (contimmed)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categomsed within the fair value merarchy, deseribed as follows, based on the lowest level input that 1s
significant to the far value measuremnent as a whole:

=  Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices m active markets for identical assets or habilities

*  Level 2 — Valation technigues for which the lowest level mput that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or mdirectly observable

= Level 3 —Valation technigques for which the lowest level mput that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recuming basis, the Fund
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessmg the
categonisation (based on the lowest level input that is sigmficant to the fair value measurement as a

wheole) at the beginning of each reporting peried.

Impairment of financial assets

The Fund holds only trade receivables with no financing component and which have matunities of less
than 12 months at amortised cost and, as such, has chosen to apply an approach similar to the
simplified approach for ECL under IFE.S 9 to all its trade recervables. Therefore, the Fund does not
track changes m credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date.

The Fund’s approach to ECLs reflects a probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. The Fund uses
the provision matrix as a practical expedient to measurmg ECLs on trade receivables, based on days
past due for groupings of receivables with similar loss patterns. Peceivables are grouped based on
their nature. The provision matrix 15 based on historical observed loss rates over the expected life of
the receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates.

The Fund assesses at each reporting date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets
classified as loans and receivables is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed
impaired if, and only if, there is an objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
that hawve oceurred after the initial recopmition of the assets (an incurred “loss event™) and that the loss
event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial
assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impaimment may mclude indications that the debtor,
or a group of debtors, 1s expeniencing significant financial diffieulty, default or delingquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankmptey or other financial reorgamisation
and, where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated fixture cash
flows, such as changes in amears or economic conditions that comrelate with defanlts. If there s
objective evidence that an impammment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss 1s measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated firture cash
flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been meurmed) discounted using the
asset’s ongimal effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the amount of the loss 1s recognised m profit or loss.
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

Offsetting financial imstroments

Financial assets and financial hiabiliies are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of
financial position if there 15 a corrently enforceable legal right to offset the recogmised amounts and
there iz an intention to seftle on a net basis, or to ealize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional cwrrency reflects the corrency in which the Fund primanly generates and expends cash
from its activities. Transactions in foreign currencies other than the finctional currency are recorded
at the rates ruling at the date of transaction.

The functional currency and presentation currency of the Fund are both in Japanese Yen (“JPY™) and
all values are rounded to the nearest Yen, except where otherwise indicated.

Foreign cumrency translation
Foreign currency transactions are imitially recorded using the fimetional cureney rates ruling at the
date of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreipn cwrrencies are retranslated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of reporting period. All differences are taken to the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as profit or loss.

MNon-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreipn currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.

Foreign cumency transaction gains and losses on financial instmuments classified as at fair value
through profit or loss are included in profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as part of the “Net change m unrealised gams/losses on financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss™. Exchange differences on other financial instruments are
included in profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive meome as “Iet
exchange differences”.

Met gan or loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value throu fit or loss

Met gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities at FWPL are changes in the fair value of financial
assets and liabilities held for trading or designated upon imitial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss and exclude interest and dividend income and expenses.

Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes in the fair value of fimancial instruments for the peried
and from reversal of the prier period’s unrealised gains and losses for financial instroments which
were realized in the reporting period. Realized gains and losses on disposals of financial mstroments
classified as at fair value through profit or loss are calculated using weighted average method. They
represent the difference between an instrument’s initial carrying amount and disposal amount, or cash
payments or receipts made on derivative contracts (excluding payments or receipts on collateral
margin accounts for such instruments).
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contimued)

Dividend mncome and expense

Dividend income is recognised when the Fund's right to receive the payment is established, which is
taken as bemg the date on which equities are quoted as ex-dividend. Dividend income 15 presented
gross of any non-recoverable withholding tax which iz disclosed separately in the statement of
comprehensive income. Dividend expense relating to equity securities sold short is recognised when
the shareholders” right to receive the payment is established.

Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recogmised in profit or loss for all interest-bearng financial
mstruments using the effective mterest method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash on hand demand
deposits and short-term deposits in banks with original matunties of three months or less.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Amounts due from/to brokers

Amounts due to brokers are payables for secunties purchased (in a regular way transaction) that have
been contracted for but not yet delivered on the reporting date and cash overdraft with brokers. Refer
to the accounting pohiey for “Other financial hiabilities™, for recogmition and measurement.

Amounts due from brokers include margin accounts and receivables for securities sold (in a regular
way transaction) that have been contracted for but not yet delivered on the reporting date. Befer to
accounting policy for “Financial instruments™ for recognition and measurement.

Margm accounts represent cash deposits held with brokers as collateral agamst open firtures contracts.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Fund if:

{(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person,
(i}  has comfrol or joint control over the Fund;
{(i1) has sigmficant mfluence over the Fund; or
(i11) 1s a member of the key management personnel of the Fund or of a parent of the Fund;

or

{b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
(i} the entity and the Fund are members of the same Fund;
(if) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);
(i11) the entity and the Fund are jont ventures of the same third party;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

i SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Related parties (continued)
{b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
{(v) the entity 15 a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees o
either the Fund or an entity related to the Fund;
(vi) the entity is conirolled or jomntly controlled by a person identified in (a);
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant mfluence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and
(viti} the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides personnel services
to the Fund.

Income tax

The Fund 15 exempt from all forms of taxation in the Cayman Islands, meluding meome, capital gains
and withholding taxes. However, in some jurisdictions, investment income and capital gams are
subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the meome. The Fund presents the withholding
tax separately from the gross investment income in the statement of profit or less and other
comprehensive income a3 “Withholding tax™.

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTION

The preparation of financial statements m confornuty with IFRS requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the finaneial statements and
accompanying notes. Management believes that the estimates utilised in preparing its financial
statements are reasonable and prudent. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an non-going basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the vear in which the estimates are revised and in any future years affected.

Fair value of financial mstruments

When the fair value of financial assets and financial lizbilities recorded in the statement of financial
position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determuined using a varety of valuation
techniques that mclude the use of mathematical models. The mputs to these models are taken from
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgements are

in establishing fair values. The judgements mclude considerations of liquidity and model inputs such
as credit risk (both own and counterparty’s), correlation and volanlity. Changes in assumptions about
these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial mstruments. The models are calibrated
regularly and tested for validity using prices from any cbservable current market transactions in the
same mstroments (without modification or repackaging) or based on any available observable market
data.

i FEES

Investment management fee and performance fee
Investment management fee and performance fee are paid at the feeder fond level
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

A FEES (contimed)

Administration fee
The Administrator, HSBC Trustee (Cayman) Limited, is entitled to receive a fae, payable monthly in
arrears, caleulated at the following anmmal rates based on the net asset value of the Fund as of each

dealng day.

First JPY'12 billion of the net asset value 0.150%
Next JFY18 billion of the net asset value 0.125%
Any amount by which the net asset value exceeds JPY30 billion 0.100%

The fee payable to the Admimistrator 15 acerued and payable monthly in amrears and subject to a
minimum monthly fee of US$8.000. In addition, the Administrator is entitled to receive a fixed fee of
US$5,000 per annum for corporate secretarial services, and certain fransaction fees, az agreed with
the Manager from time to time.

The administration fee for the year ended 31 March 2023 was JPY40,583,817 (2022: JFY39,282,769).
As at 31 March 2023, an admimstration fee of JPY3,789.639 (2022: JPY3,154.113) was pavable to
the Admimstrator and is included in other payable and accruals.

6. TAXATION
Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Fund is not subject to ncome or capital gain tax.

The only taxes payable by the Fund are withholding taxes of other countries applicable to dividend
Income.

T FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OF. LOSS

Financial assets at fair value fit or loss
2023 2022
JBY JPY
Listed equity secunties 16418492 270 23,981.213.917

16418492270 23081 213017

Met changes in fair value on financial assets through profit or loss:

2023 2012

JBY IPY
Bealized 7,421 870,426 2.600,391.206
Unrealized (561859822  (3,806905.171)

Total gains/{losses) 6,860,010,604 (1,116,313 963)
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

7. FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OF. LOSS (contimued)
Financial hiabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Met changes in fair value on financial liabilities through profit or loss:

2023 2022

JFY JFY

Fealised - 13,148 333
Unrealised - 114 447
Total gains - 13,263,000

A detailed portfolio histing is set out on pages 30 to 31.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss represent obligations of the Fund to purchase
the secunities in the market at prevailing prices to the extent that the Fund does not already have the
secunifies n possession. Accordingly, these transactions result in the risk that the Fund’s satisfaction
of the obhigation may exceed the amount recognised in the statement of financial position.

8 FATFR. VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTEUMENTS

Aszzets and liabilities for which fair value 1s measured or disclosed in the financial statement are
categonized within the far value erarchy described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
15 significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

Level 1 Quoted (unadyusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 Valuation technigues for which the lowest level mnput that is significant to the fair value
measurement 1s directly or mdirectly observable

Level 3 Valuation techmicues for which the lowest level mput that is sipnificant to the fair value
measurement i unobservable

Assessmg the sigmficance of a particular input requires judgement, considering factors specific to the
assets or liabilities.

Financial assets at far value fit or loss

2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
JPY JFY IPY JFY

Listed equity securities 16,418,492 279 - - 16418492279

Total 16,418 402 279 - - 16418492279
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10.

FATR. VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (contimued)

2022 Level 1 Level 2
JIFY JPY

Listed equity securities 23,981.213,917 .
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Level 3 Total
IPY JFY

- 23081213917

Total 23081213917 -

- 23081213917

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level
2 of fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3.

Financial hahilities at fair value fit or loss

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, there were no financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss.

AMOUNTS DUE FROMTO A PRIME BROKER

Amounts due from a prime broker:
Recervables for secunties sold but not yet settled

Amounts due to a prime broker:
Payables for secunties purchased but not yet setfled

MARGIN DEPOSITS

Margin deposits

2023 2022
IPY IPY
76,264,618 :
. 17,670,142

. 17,670,142

2023 2022

JPY IPY

31,225,053 3,054,500,742

Margm deposits due from the prime broker represent cash held by Goldman Sachs International can
be used as collateral against the Fund's financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and

amounts due to prime broker, which 1s restricted as to use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

11 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2023 2022
JFY JFY
Cash at bank 17,443 510,730 11,434 787

Cash at bank 15 placed at the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Linmted (“HSBC™), an
affiliate of the Administrator, as at the end of the reporting date. The amount is placed in & non-interest
bearing account.

12 SHARE CAPITAL

2023 2022
JBY JFY
Anthorised:
100 management shares of JPY100 each 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid:
100 management shares of JEY100 each 10,000 10,000

The Fund’s authorised capital comprise of 100 units of management shares and 49,900,000 units of
redeemable participating shares. All management shares are held by the Manager. The Fund’s total
management shares are equal to 100 veting and nonredeemable shares at JPY100 per share.
Management shares are issued so as to prevent the Fund from dissolution in case all participating
shares have been redeemed.

13. FEDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES

2023 2022
JFY JFY
Anthonized:
49,900,000 redeemable participating shares of JPY0.1 each 4,990,000 4,990,000
Issued and fully paid:
101,998 (2022: 103,087)
redeemable participating shares of JPY0.1 each 10,200 10,309

The holders of redeemable participating shares carry all votmg rights and are enfitled to dividends m
respect of their redeemable participating shares. The redeemable participating shares also carry an
exclusive right to receive any surplus assets remaining after the retumn of the nominal amewnt paid up
on the redeemable participating shares and the management shares.
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2023

13. FEDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES (continued)

The redeemable participating shares are offered on each dealing day, 1.e. the last business day of each
calendar month. The holders of redeemable participating shares may redeem the redeemable
participating shares on any dealing day by no later than the dealing deadline. 1e. no later than mine
business day prior to the last business day of each calendar month.

The Fund strives to invest the subscriptions of redeemable participating shares in investments that
meet the Fund’s investment objectives while maintaining sufficient ligquidity to meet shareholder’s
redemptions request. The Fund may dispose equity securities and other financial assets, when
necessary, to meet lquidity needs. The Fund does not have any externally imposed capital requirement.

The following summarises the movement in redeemable participating shares during the year ended:

2023 2022
Units Units
At beginning of year 103,087 115,285
Subscribed during the year - 15,012
Redesmed durmg the year { 1,089) (27210
At end of year 101,998 103,087

The calculation of the net asset value per redeemable participating share is based on the net assets
attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares as at 31 March 2023 of JPY34 087 074,017
(2022: JPY27,083,247,670) and 101,998 redeemable participating shares (2022: 103,087 shares) m
1ssue as at that date.

14. DISTEIBUTION

Mo distnbution was paid or payable dunng the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

15.  ASSETS UNDEE.FLEDGE

The Fund pledged certain cash balances to Goldman Sachs International and Neommra International
PLC as collateral for financing lines and short selling facilities. The value of collateral pledged with
Goldman Sachs International and Nomura International PLC as at 31 March 2023 was JFY31,225 053
(2022: JPY27,018,748,691) and JPY33,859.472 028, respectively, representing cash held by the
prime broker and financial assets at FVPL.
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TE1l J LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

16. BELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Fund is managed by the Manager. Details of the fees to which the Manager are entifled from the
Fund are provided in note 3 to the financial statements. All such transactions were entered into in the
ordinary course of busimess and on normal commereial terms. As at 31 March 2023, the Manager held
all the 100 (2022: 100) management shares.

Tower K1 J-Fund redeemed shares amounting to a total of JEY321,352 542 during the vear of which
JPY29,074,791 is outstanding as at 31 March 2023 (2022: JPY223,313,700).

17. FINANCIAL RISKE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS

Risks anising from holding financial mstruments are inherent in the Fund’s activities and are managed
through a process of ongoing measurement and menitoring. The Fund is exposed to credit nisk,

Financial mstruments of the Fund comprise investments in financial assets and liabilities at fair value
throwgh profit or loss for the purpose of generating a retum on the investment made by shareholders,
amounts due fromto prime broker. dividends receivable and payable, redemption payable, other
payable and accmals, margin deposits, other receivable and prepayments and cash and cash equivalent.

The Manager is responsible for identifying and controlling the risks that anse from these financial

nstrurments.

The risks are measured using a method that reflects the expected impact on the results and net assets
attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares of the Fund from reasemably possible
changes m the relevant risk vanables such as change in global market environment, interest rate and
currency fluctuations, credit ratings of the Fund’s constituents and liquidity risk and price nisk of the
Investing equity securities.

Information about these risk exposures at the reporting date, measured on this basis, is disclosed below.
Information about the total fair value of financial instruments exposed to sk, as well as its compliance
with established inwvestment mandate, which are presented by the Investment and Bomowng
Pestnictions listed in Explanatory Memorandum, is also monitored by the Manager. These mandate
limyits reflect the mvestment strategy and market environment of the Fund, as well as the level of nisk
that the Fund is willng to accept, with addiional emphasis on selected industries.

Concentration of risk anses when a number of finaneial mstruments or contracts are entered into with
the same counterparty, or a munber of counterparties engaging in similar business activities, or
conducting activities m the same geographic region, or share smilar economic features that would
cause their abilities to meet contractual obligations to be sinularly affected by changes to economic
or political conditions.

This mformation is prepared and reported to relevant parties on a monthly basis as deemed appropriate,
ncluding the Manager and Investment Adwvisor.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

17 FINANCIAL BISE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (continued)

(&) Market Risk

Market nisk is the risk that the fair value or fiture cash flows of financial instruments will
fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices whether those changes are cansed by factors
specific to the individual assets or factors affecting all assets in the market such as interest
rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. Market risk is managed and monrtored using
sensitivity analysis in equity price, and muninmsed through ensuring that all investment
activities are undertaken in accordamce with established mandate limits and investment
strategies.

(1) Interest rate rizk

Interest rate msk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial
instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

Ag at the end of the reporting date, the Fund's exposure to imterest rate nisk is
considered to be minimal as most of the Fund’s assets consist of equity securities and
non-interest bearing assets such as amounts due from a prime broker, dividends
receivable, margin deposits, other receivable and prepayments and cash balance
placed at the bank.

(i) Currency nisk

Currency nisk is the nsk that the value of financial assets or liabiliies will fluctuate
due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Fund's exposure to currency nisk is
minimal as the Fund’s financial assets and liabalities, which are denonunated m
currencies other than Japanese Yen, are immaterial.

(i) Equity price nsk
Equity price nisk 1s the nisk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of
changes in market prices, whether those changes are cansed by factors specific to the

individual stock or factors affecting all instruments in the market. Equity price nsk
exposure arses from the Fund's mvestments.

Equity price risk is managed by the Manager by constucting a diversified portfolio
of mstruments. The following table details the breakdown of the investment assets
held by the Fund as at the end of the reporting date:

2023 2022
%2 of net assets %o of met assets

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Equity mvestment - listed securities 4817 88.55
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

17. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (continued)
(a) Market Risk (contimaed)
(i) Equity price nisk (continued)
The Manager's best estimate of the effect on the net assets for a year due to a
reasonably possible change in Nikkei 225 Index, with all other variable held constant
is indicated in the table below. In practice, the actual trading results may differ from

the sensitivity amnalysis below and the difference could be matenial An equivalent
increase or decrease i Nikkei 223 Index shown below would have resulted m an

equivalent Impact.

Changes m Nikkei 225 Changes in

Index NAV

From 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 0.79% 27.20%
From 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 -4.65% -2.98%

Concentration of market risk exposire

As of 31 March 2023 and 2022, all of the equity securities are listed in Japan. The
concentration of market nsk by geographical location is managed by the
diversification of investment in vanous industry sectors.

An mdustry sector analysis of the Fund’s financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss 13 as follows:

2023 2022

JPY IFY

Advanced Materials and Products - 146,107 500
Bulding - Heavy Construction 206,141,000 224 379300
Building Products - Lighting Fixtures 53,367,600 -
Building Products - Wood 13,673,000 3,486,000
Ceramic products 177,070,402 159,022 840
Chemicals - 137,039,998
Computer equipment, service and software 5,987 315,604 4,047,166,399
Distribution and wholesale - 14,527 500
Diversified Banking 4,922 613,000 6,697, 741,500
Electne & electromcs products 2,072,895 896 1,885,961 381
Electromic Measuring Instruments 112,229 990 37,364,800
Electromic Parts Distributors - 17,574,000
1 - 208,078,000

Food - 398690400
Footwear (Non-Athletic) & related apparel 311,600,002 418,065,000
Golf 244 687095 176,334 402
Leisure and recreational products - T7.414.400
Machinery 1,153,662.500 2,371,779.501
Real estate development and management 1,042 267 500 1,086.806,600
REITS 30,965,700 4.050,774,902
Telecom and telephone - 1,066,535.494
Textile product - 646,344,000
Total 16418402270 23 981213917
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TE1l J LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2023

17. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT COBIECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (continned)
(a) Market Risk (contimaed)
()  Equity price nsk (confinued)

The Fund contiomously menitors the financial performance of the counterparties and
does not expect any material losses as a result of this concentration.

()  Liquidity Risk

Ligmdity risk is the misk that the Fumd will encounter difficulty in raising fimds to meet
commitments associated with financial lisbilities. Liquidity risk may result from an inability
to setile a financial hability quickly at an amount close to its fair value.

The Fund’s exposure to hemdity risk 1s relatively low as shareholders are allowed to redeem
investments on a monthly basis. Further, to prevent a short-term liguidity problem which may
be caused by hmge redemptions in a single dealing day to the Fund, the Manager is entitled at
its discretion to linut the aggregate of the mumber of shares redeemed to 10%% of the total
mumber of redesmable participating shares in issue. The Manager may also suspend the right
of shareholders to require redemption of their shares and/or may delay the payment of the
redemption price during any period when the determination of the net asset value of the Fund
13 suspended

In addition, the Fund maintains sufficient cash and cash egquivalents to meet nommal operating
Tequirements.

Maturity analysis of financial asset and financial liabilities

Financial assets of the Fund comprise financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
amounts due from a prime broker, dividends recervable, cash and cash equivalents, other
recervable and prepayments and margin deposits. There i3 no contractual matunty on the
financial assets except for dividend receivables which are typically setfled within 30 days and
90 days. Financial liabilities of the Fund comprise amounts due to prime broker, dividends
payable on finaneial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, redemption payable and
other payable and accruals and net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating
shares. Except for net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares as
disclosed in note 13 to the financial statements and dividends payable on financial liabilities
at fair valne through profit or loss which are typically settled within 30 days and 90 days, the
other financial liabilities have no contractual maturity.

{c) Credit Risk
Credit risk relates to the extent to which the Fund could be impacted by falures by
counterparties to discharge their obligations or commitment they have entered into with the
Fund. It could reduce the amount of future cash flows from financial assets on hand as at the
end of reporting date.
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

17. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT COBIECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (continned)
ic) Credit Risk {continued)

The carrymmg amount of financial assets best represents the maximum credit nsk exposure at
the end of the reporting date. This relates also to financial assets carmed at amortised cost, as
they have a short-term to maturity. This does not represent the maxinmm risk exposure that
could arise in the future as a result of changes in values, but represents the current maximum
exposure at the reporting date. For the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, since
all of the financial assets are publicly listed i recopnised market in Japan, the credit nisk
exposure is considered to be relatively low.

Az of the end of the reporting date, the Fund’s financial assets exposed to credit nsk amounted
to JEY34,125,460,535 (2022: JPY27.331.016.614), which represented the camrying amounts
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, amounts due from a prime broker,
dividend receivables, margin deposits and cash and cash equivalents as presented m the
statement of financial pesition. As of 31 March 2023 and 2022, all of the Fund’s investment
positions are held by the prime broker.

The Fund holds no collateral as sscunity or any other credit enhancements (2022: Nil). There
are no financial assets that are past due or impaired, or would otherwise be past due or

impaired except for the terms having been renegotiated (2022: Nil).

Concentration of credit risk exposure
Substantially all of the cash and securities are held by HSBC located in Hong Kong and
Goldman Sachs International in Londen, the Fund’s prime broker. Bankruptey or inselvency
by them may cause the Fund's nghts with respect to the cash held by them to be delayed or
limited The Fund monitors its nsk by monitoring the credit quality and financial positions of
them If the credit quality or the financial position of them deteriorates significantly, the
will move the cash holdings to another bank and financial instituhion as soon as
practical. The related credit ratings from Standard & Poor's (“S&F) for HSBC is “A-7 (2022:
“A-7), “A+” for Goldman Sachs Intemnatiomal (2022: “A+7) and “BBB+" for Nomura
International PLC.

Financial assets subject to IFRS 9's impairment requiremesnts

The Fund’s financial assets subject to the ECL model within IFRS 9 are dividends receivable,
amounts due from a prime broker, margin deposits and cash and cash equivalents. At 31
March 2023, the total amount of these financial assets 13 JPY17,706,968.256
(2022: JPY3 349 802.697), on which no loss allowance had been provided. No assets are
considered impaired and no amounts have been wrtten off during the year.

Financial assets not subject to IFRS 9's impairment requirements

The Fund is exposed to credit risk on equity instruments. They are not subject to IFRS 97
impairment requitements as they are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The
carrying walue of these assets, imder IFES 9 represents the Fund’s maximum exposure to
credit risk on financial instnuments not subject to the IFR.S 9 impaimment requirements on the
respective reporting dates. Hence, no separate maxinmum exposure to credit risk disclosure is
provided for these instruments.
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TE1l J LIMITED
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2023

17. FINANCIAL RISKE MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCESS (contmued)

Financial asseis not subject fo IFRS 9's impairment requirements (coniinued)

The Fund manages its credit and counterparty risk by monitoring and reviewing the credit
ratings, financial statements and press releases of its custodian and counterparties. As at 31
March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the credit ratings of the Fund's custodian and the
counterparties are at investment grade.

18. EVENTS AFTER. THE REPORTING DATE

Subsequent to the reporting date and up to the date of the financial statements. 24 268 redeemable
participating shares were redeemed for total redemption payments of JFY8, 739 308,746,

As disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements. the Manager informed the unithelders of the
proposed closing down of the Funds and amendments to Trust Deed through an issuance of the
Termination Notice on 31 May 2023 ("Notice Date").

Pursuant to the signed written board resolution dated 26 July 2023, the directors of the Compamy
resolved to approve the Termimation of Offering, orderly Realisation of the underlying investments
of each of the Funds and the Last Realization Day, the forms and terms of the notice to unitholders
{“Motice™) informing them of the Proposed Closing Down, Last Redemption Day, Realisation, the
Proposals and Amendments to the Trust Deed, inchodng  the forms and terms of the notice to the
Advizer and Agent (“Termimation Notice™) to terminate the Aneillary Agreement and a termination
audit in respect of the financial statements for the period from the day immediately following the end
of the last financial year to the date on which redemption procesds to the unitholders are finally
distributed (including the Over Provision (if amy).

There were no other material events to be disclosed after the reporting date other than those mentioned

above.

19. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The fimancial statements were approved and authonsed for 1ssue by the Directors on 4 August 2023
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(2023 )

30,360,464,261

3,287,783,056

27,072,681,205

92,079

294,016
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2023
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1,000,000
( 140.97 2023 31 UFJ
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2023 3 31
2023 2022

7,265,046 1,024,154 857,466 120,877
67,075 9,456 63,810 8,995
19,756,185 2,785,029 17,363,369 2,447,714
27,088,306 3,818,638 18,284,645 2,577,586
6,689,343 942,997 797,595 112,437
20,398,963 2,875,642 17,487,050 2,465,149
20,398,963 2,875,642 17,487,050 2,465,149
1,000,000 140,970 1,000,000 140,970
19,398,963 2,734,672 16,487,050 2,324,179
20,398,963 2,875,642 17,487,050 2,465,149
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2023 3 31
2023 2022
3 28,431,651 4,008,010 29,011,901 4,089,808
3 9,482 1,337 161 23
4 30 4 (57,833) (8,153)
(25,529, 250) (3,598, 858) (26,300,775) (3,707,620)
2,911,913 410,492 2,653,454 374,057
5
2,911,913 410,492 2,653,454 374,057
2,911,913 410,492 2,653,454 374,057
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2023 3 31
2021 4 1 1,000,000 140,970 13,833,596 1,950,122 14,833,596 2,091,092
2,653,454 374,057 2,653,454 374,057
2022 3 31 1,000,000 140,970 16,487,050 2,324,179 17,487,050 2,465,149
2,911,913 410,492 2,911,913 410,492
2023 3 31 1,000,000 140,970 19,398,963 2,734,672 20,398,963 2,875,642
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2023 3 31
2023 2022

2,911,913 410,492 2,653,454 374,057
(9,482) (1,337) (161) (23)
2,902,431 409,156 2,653,293 374,035
(6,407,580) (903,277) 1,274,042 179,602
(3,265) (460) (38,250) (5.,392)
5,891,748 830,560 (769,574) (108,487)
2,383,334 335,979 3,119,511 439,757
9,482 1,337 161 23
9,482 1,337 161 23
2,392,816 337,315 3,119,672 439,780
17,363,369 2,447,714 14,243,697 2,007,934
19,756,185 2,785,029 17,363,369 2,447,714
19,756,185 2,785,029 17,363,369 2,447,714
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2023 31
KY1-1104
309
2020
Registered Person
2.1
HKFRSs HKFRs
HKICPA HKFRSs HKASs
HKICPA
HKFRSs
HKFRs
2.3
2.2
HKFRSs
HKFRSs
12
2.3 HKFRSs
2022
HKICPA
HKFRSs HKFRSs

HKFRS
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HKFRS 16 2021 6 30

HKAS 16
HKAS 37

HKFRSs HKFRS HKFRS HKFRS 16
2018-2020 HKAS 41

HKFRSs HKAS

HKICPA
2023 31

2.4

2.5

2.6
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2.11

FVTPL

FVTPL

FVTOCI FVTPL

FVTPL FVTPL
FVTPL
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2.13

2023 2022
10,001,855 11,024,026
18,429,796 17,987,875
28,431,651 29,011,901
9,482 161
28,441,133 29,012,062
«c )
2023 2022
« ) 30 (57,833)

2011 2008 15 20
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2022
2022
30 365
11(b)
2023 2022
6,664,713 772,835
24,630 24,760
6,689,343 797,595
2023 2022
2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

Registered Person
50
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10.
2023 2022
10,001,855 11,024,026
18,429,796 17,987,875
1,000,066 1,102,108
d 2,000,132 2,204,216
6,000,396 6,612,649
16,345,284 16,222,100
a
b
C
d
e
L
11.

@

2022
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2022 10

93,000 2022 30,000

2022 10
50
99,000 (2022 87,000 )
50
2022
100

6,689,343 6,689,343 6,689,343
797,595 797,595 797,595
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 March 2023
2023 2022
Note Uss USss
Current aszets
Accounts recervable 6 7.265,046 857 466
Prepayments 67,075 63,810
Cash and bank balances 19756, 185 17,363,369
27,088,306 18,284 645
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 7 6,689 343 797,595
Net current assets 20,398 963 17487050
Net assets 20,398 963 17 487 050
Capital and reserves
Share capital 8 1,000,000 1,000,000
Eeserves 19398 963 16,487 050
20,398 963 17 487 050
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Note
Revenue 3
Other operating income 3
Other net gamn/(loss) 4
Other operating expenses
Profit before tax
Taxation 5
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year
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2023 2022
USS US$
28,431,651 29,011,901
9,482 161

30 (57.833)
(25,529,250) (26.,300,775)
2,011,913 2,653,454
2,011,913 2,653,434
2,911,913 2,653,454
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Statement of Changes in Equnity
For the year ended 31 March 2023
Share capital Reserves Total
Uss Uss Uss
Total equity as at 1 April 2021 1,000,000 13,833,596 14,833,596
Total comprehensive mcome for the year - 2,653,454 2653454
Total equity as at 31 March 2022 1,000,000 16,487,050 17,487,050
Total comprehensive mcome for the year - 2911913 2911913
Total equity as at 31 March 2023 1,000,000 19,398,963 20,398,963
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax

Adjustment for:

Interest mcome

(Increase)/decrease in accounts recervable

Increase in prepayments
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable and aceruals

Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received

Net cash from investing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

Amalysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances
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2023 2022
USS US$
2,911,913 2,653,454
(9.482) (161)
2,002,431 2,653,203
(6,407,580) 1,274,042
(3,265) (38,250)
5,801,748 (769,574)
2,383,334 3,119,511
9,482 161
9,482 161
2,392,816 3,119,672
17,363,369 14,243 697
19,756,185 17,363,360
19,756,185 17,363,360
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

1.  General information
Tower Asset Management Limited is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability.
Its registered office 1s located at PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, K¥1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The prncipal activity of the Company 15 the provision of find management services. The Company is
registered as a Registered Person mnder the Securifies Investment Business Act (2020 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands.

The ultimate holding Company 13 Tower Investment Management Co._, Limited a company incorporated in
Japan with limited liabality.

2,  Significant accounting policies

21. Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared m accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HEFERSs"), which collective term includes all applicable HKFESs, Hong EKong Accounting
Standards ("HEASs") and Interpretations issmed by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HEICPA™), and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Company is set out below.

The HEICPA has issued certain new and revised HEKFESs that are first effective or available for eatly
adoption for the current accounting period of the Company. Information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Company for the current and prior accounting periods reflected m these financial statements is provided in
note 2.3.

2.2. Basis of preparation of financial statements
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformuty with HEFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets. hahilities, meome and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
expenience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and hiabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Eevisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
petiod, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both cumrent and future
petiods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HEFESs that have significant effect on the
financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 12,
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.3. The impact of new/revised HKFRSs
In the current year, the Company has applied, for the first time, the following new and revised standards,
amendments and interpretation (collectively refemred to as the "new and revised HKFESs") issued by
HEICPA, which are effective for the Company's financial year beginning from 1 Apnl 2022, A summary
of the new and revised HEFE.Ss applied by the Company is set out as follows:

Amendments to HEFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
Amendments to HEFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021
Amendments to HEAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HEAS 37 Onerous Contracts - Costs of Fulfilling a Contract
Anmual Improvements to HKFESs 2018-2020 Amendments to HEFES 1, HEFES 9,
Mustrative Examples accompanying

HEFES 16, and HEAS 41

The amendments to HEFES: and HEAS i this year do not have matenial impact on the Company's
financial performance and position for the current and prior years and on the disclosures set out in the
financial statements.

Up to the date of izsue of these financial statements, the HEICPA has issued a number of amendments, new
standards and interpretations which are not vet effective for the year ended 31 March 2023 and which have
not been adopted in these financial staternents.

The Company 1s in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments new
standards and new interpretations 15 expected to be in the period of imitial application. However, it i not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the directors of the Compamy
completed a detailed review.

2.4. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial mstitutions, and short term, highly hiquid investment that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an msigmificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
menths of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an mtegral part
of the Company's cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the statement of cash flows.
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.5, Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax curmrently payable and deferred tax.

The tax cumently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as
reported in profit or loss becanse of items of mcome or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company's liability for current tax is caleulated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the comesponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recogmsed for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available agamst which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it 1s no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recoverad.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset realised. based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at
the end of reporting peried, to recover or setile the carmying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax
is recogmised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

2.6. Foreign currencies translations
(a)  Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the cumrency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the functional curmrency). This financial statements are
presented in United States dollars ("USS$"), which is the Compamy's fimctional and presentation
CUITEnCY.

(b)  Transactions and balances
Foreign cumrency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
seftlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of mometary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

-10-
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023
2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)
2.7. Trade and other receivables

2.8

2.9.

Trade and other receivables are measured at initial recognition at transaction price and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less lifetime expected credit losses.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are measured at imitial recognition at the fair value (including transaction costs)
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Related parties
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Company if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Company;

(1) has sigmficant influence over the Company; or

(ni) 15 a member of the key management personnel of the Company or the Company's parent.
(b)  An entity 15 related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate of jomt venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of which the other enfity 13 a member).

(i) DBoth entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

{iv) One enfity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity 1s an associate of the third
entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Company or an entity related to the Company.

(vi) The entity is contralled or jomntly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vit) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the enfity or 13 a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Cloze members of the famly of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealing with the entity.
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.10. Revenue recognition

Bevenue from contracts with customers is recogmised by reference to each distinct performance obligation
in the contract with the customer. Bevemme from contracts with customers is measured at the transaction
price, bemg the amount of consideration which the Company expects to be enfitled to in exchange for
transferring the promised goods or services to the customer, net of taxes. The transaction price 1s allocated
to each performance obligation of each distinct good or service promised in the contract. The basis of
allocation is that allowed by HEFES 15. Depending on the substance of the contract, revenue is recogmised
when the performance obligation 13 satisfied which may be at a point in time or over time.

Fund manager fee income is charged at a fixed percentage per month of the net asset value of the managed
accounts under management of the Company. The Company is also entitled to a performance fee when
there 1z a positive performance for the relevant performance period and it 1s recognised at the end of the
relevant performance period, when it is highly probable that a sipmficant reversal in the amount of
cummlative reverme recogmised will not occur when the uncertaimty associated with the warable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

Income from financial services 1s recogmsed over time as services rendered.

Interest meome 1s Tecogmsed on a time proportion basis on the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable.

2.11. Financial instruments

A financial mstroment is any confract that gives nse to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity. A financial asset or a finanecial hability will be recognized
when, and only when, the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. At
initial recognition, financial instmuments are accounted for at trade date basis and measured at fair valoe
plus or mimus, in the case of a financial asset or financial lability not at financial assets at fair valoe
through profit or loss ("FVTPL"), fransaction costs thereon. After imitial recognition, financial assets and
financial liabilities are measured at fair value or at amortised cost based on their respective business
models, contractual cash flows charactenstics and classifications.

Financial assets af FFTPL

Financial assets other than those measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income ("FWVTOCI") are classified as financial assets at FWVTPL. Financial assets that are classified as held
for trading or are designated at FVIPL at imitial recognition for the purposes of avoidng accounting
mismatch are classified as FVTPL too. Denvatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges. After initial recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value prior to
the deduction of transaction costs. Gains or losses anising from changes in fair value or otherwise are
recognised m profit or loss. Such gains or losses are presented separately from interest and dividends.

-12-

163/213



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

2,  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.11. Financial instruments (cont"d)

Financial assefs at amortized cost

Non-derivative debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for
collection of contractual cash flows and have specified settlement dates with fixed or determinable
payments of principal and interest thereon are classified as financial assets at amortised cost. After initial
recognition, financial assets at amortised cost are measured at amortised cost using effective interest
method, less credit loss allowances. Imferest imcome together with gains or losses resulting from
derecognition are recognised in profit or loss.

At each reporting date, expected credit losses are recognised for individual or collective financial assets at
amortised cost in profit or loss. The amounts of expected credit losses are measured at the present value of
the difference between the contractual cash flows and the expected future cash flows.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Non-denivative financial liabalities with fixed or determinable payments that are not gquoted in an active
market are classified as financial lizbilities at amortised cost. After initial recognition, financial liabilities
at amortised cost are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. All financial habilities
at amortised cost are classified as current hiabiliies unless the Company has a pre-defined repayment
schedule or an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting period. Interest expenses are recognised in profit or loss. When the borrowing agreement contains
clause that gives the lender unconditional night to demand repayment at any time disregarding the pre-
defined repayment schedule, the financial habilities at amortised cost is presented as a current liability in
the statement of financial position irespective of the probability that the lender will mveke the clanse
without cause.

Reclassification of financial assets

Financial assets, but not financial liabilities, are re-classifiable when the business model applicable to a
financial asset or a class of financial assets has changed For the financial assets reclassified out of
amortised cost measurement category, their carrying amount are restated at their respective fair value at the
reclassification date; anmy differences are recognised in profit or loss (for those reclassified inte FVTPL
measurement category) or other comprehensive income (for those reclassified into financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income ("FVTOCI™) measurement category). For the financial assets
reclassified out of FVTPL measurement category into FVTOCT measurement category of vice versa, they
are continued to be measured at fair valee; cumulative gain or loss previcusly recogmised i other
comprehensive income, if any, 15 reclassified to profit or loss as reclassification adjustment. For the
financial assets reclassified omt of FWVTPL measurement category into amortised cost measurement
category, their fair value at the reclassification date becomes their new gross camrying amount. For financial
assets reclassified from FVTOCT measurement category mto amortised cost measurement category, their
carrying amount will be adjusted as if they had always been measured at amertised cost; the adjusted
amount will be recognised in cumulative gain or loss of the financial assets previously recognised in other
comprehensive income. After reclassification, the reclassified financial assets will be measured n
accordance with the accounting policies of the new categories.
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.11. Financial instruments (cont"d)
Derecognition of financial assets
When the contractual rights to the cash flows from financial assets expire or substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of financial assets are transferred, the financial assets will be derecogmsed. The
rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer are recognised separately as assets or liabilifies.
However, if substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of transferred financial assets are retained,
the financial assets will not be derecogmsed. In this simation, the transferred financial assets will be
recognised m their entirety and the considerations received, if amy, will be recogmised as financial
liabilities. In subsequent perieds, income on the transferred financial assets and expense incurred on the
recognized financial liabilities will be recognised m profit or loss separately. In the case substantially all
the nisks and rewards of ownership of transferred financial assets are neither transferred mor retained, the
transferred financial assets will be recognised to the extent of the Company's continuous invelvement if the
Company retains control over the financial assets; otherwise, the financial assets will be derecognised and
the rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer are recognised separately as assets or liabilifies.
The difference of the carrying ameunt of the transferred assets which are gualified for derecognition and
the sum of consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is
recognised n profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

When the obligation of financial Liabilities specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires,
the financial liabilities are regarded as extmguished and are removed from the statement of financial
position. An exchange of habilities or substantial modification of the terms of existing financial hiabilities
are also accounted for as an extinguishment of the orpginal financial liabilities. Gain or loss on
derecognition of financial liabilities 1s recognised in profit or loss.

2.12, Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability 15 a possible obligation that anises from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occumrence or non-occurence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Company. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised becanse it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be raquired or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that amses from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not whelly within
the contrel of the Company. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

2.  Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

2.13. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision, mcluding those arising from the contractual obligation specified in
the service concession amangement to maintain o restore the infrastmuctore before it is handed owver to the
grantor, is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties sumounding the obligation. When a
provision 1s measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carmying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time valne of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from

a third party, a receivable is recopmized as an asset if it is virtnally certain that reimbursement will be
received and the ameount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

3. Eevenue and other income

The principal activity of the Company 15 the provision of fund management services. Revenue and other
mcome recognised during the year are as follows:

2023 022
Uss Uss
Revenue
Fund manager fee income 10,001 835 11.024.026
Performance fee mcome 18,429 796 17987 875

28431651 20,011,901

Other operating income
Bank inferest income 9482 161

28,441,133 20,012,062

4. Other net gain/(loss)

2023 2022
Uss Uss
Met exchange gan/{loss) 30 (37.833)
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

5. Taxation
The Company haz applied for and has received an undertaking from the Governor-in-Council of the
Cayman Islands that, m accordance with section 6 of the Tax Concessions Law (2011 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands, for a period of 20 years from 13 July 2008, no law which 15 enacted in the Cayman Islands
imposing any tax to be levied on profits, income, gains or appreciations or any tax in the nature of estate
duty or mhentance tax shall apply to the Company er its operations.

Mo provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as, in the opinion of the directors, the Compamy
did not generate any assessable profits in Hong Kong during the year (2022: Wil).

There was no unprovided deferred tax in respect of the year and as at the end of reporting period (2022:
Nil).

a. Accounts receivable

The Company allows a credit period of 30 to 365 days in respect of the accounts receivable ansing from
the business of provision of find management services.

The Company's credit policy is set out in note 11(b).

7.  Accounts payable and accruals

2023 2022
Uss Uss
Accounts payable 6,664,713 772,835
Accruals 24,630 24760
6,689,343 797,595
8.  Share capital
2023 2022
UsS Uss
Anthorised
2,000,000 ordinary shares of US$1 each 2,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and folly paid
1,000,000 ordinary shares of US$1 each 1,000,000 1,000,000

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are

entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to
the Company's residual assets.

-16-
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

9.  Capital management
Capital comprises of share capital and reserves stated om the statement of financial position. The

Company's objective in managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concem, so that it
can contimue to provide returns for shareholders.

The Company manages capital by regularly monitormg its current and expected liquidity reguirement
rather than using debt/equity ratio analyses.

The Company's strategy is to maintain a solid capital base to support the operations and development of its
business in the long term.

The Company was registered as Registered Person by Cayman Islands Menetary Autherity and subjected
to externally requirement specified by the Japan Secunities Dealers Association to maintain its minimum
net asset value of 50 million Japanese Yen.

10. Related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Compamy
entered into the following material related party transactions:

2023 022

Uss Uss
Management fee from related funds (note (a)) 10,001,855 11024026
Performance fee from related funds (note (b)) 18,429 796 17987875
Agency fee to the holding company (note (c)) 1,000,066 1,102,108
Admimstrative service fee to the holding company (note (d)) 20000132 2204216
Investment advisory fee to the holdng company (note () 6,000,396 6,612 649
Performance fee to the holding company (note () 16,345 284 16,222,100

Notes:
(a)  The management fee was calculated based on agreed percentage of the net asset value of the fimds in
accordance with the explanatory memorandums of the funds.

(b) The performance fee was calcolated in accordance with formmula defined in the explanatory
memorandum of the funds.

(¢} The Company entered mnto an agency agreement with the holding company. According to the
agreement, the Company appointed the holding company to provide admimstrative services relating
to the fimd managed by the Company. The fee was calculated based on agreed percentage of the
management fee received by the Company.
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

10.

11.

Related party transactions (cont'd)

Motes (cont'd):

(d) Admimstrative service fees were in relation to administrative services provided by the holding
company. The fees were calculated based on agreed percentage of the net asset value of the
imvestment funds or based on agreed percentage of the management fee received by the Company.

(e}  The Company entered into an investment advisory agreement with the holdng company. Pursuant to
the agreement, the Company appointed the holding company to provide mvestment advisory services
to funds managed by the Company. The Company paid mvestment advisory fees to the holding
company which were caleulated based on agreed percentage of the management fees received by the

Compamy.

(f) The Company entersd imfo an investment adwisory agreement with the holding company. The
Company paid the performance fee to the holding company which calculated in accordance with
formmla defined m the agreement.

Financial risk management

The Company's activities expose it to a vanety of financial nisks: market nsk (including foreign currency
risk, cash flows and fair value mterest rate risk), credit nsk, and liqmdity risk. These nisks are mitigated by
the Company's financial management policies and practices deseribed below:

(a) Market nsk
(1)  Foreign currency risk
The Company is exposed to foreipn currency risk thromgh certain meome and expenses that
are seftled in Hong Kong dollars ("HEKD™) and Japanesze Yen ("JPY™) (2022: HED and JPY).
Az HED is pegged to USD, the Company does not expect any significant movements i the
HED/USD exchange rate. The Company is mainly exposed to foreign exchange risk ansing
from futore tramsactions that are denominated in JPY. The management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign cummency exposure should the
need arise.

At 31 March 2023, if JPY has strengthenedweakened by 9% (2022: 10%¢) agamst USD with
all other variables held constant, profit for the year and equity would have been approximately
US$93,000 (2022: approximately US$30,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gain/{loss) on translation of foreign cumrencies denominated bank balances. The 9%
(2022: 10%) represents management's assessment of the likely maximum change m JPY
exchange rate owver the period until the end of the next reporting peniod.
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

11. Financial risk management (cont'd)

(a)  Market risk (cont'd)
()  Cash flows and fair value interest rate risk
The Company is exposed to mterest rate sk through the impact of rate changes on interest
bearing assets. The Company's policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available
for its deposits.

As at 31 March 2023, the profit after tax of the Company would have been
decreased/mereased by approximately US$%9.000 (2022: approximately US$87,000) if the
market interest rate had been increased/decreased by 50 basis points with all other variables
held constant. The 30 basis points increase/decrease represents management's assessment of
the likely maximnm change in interest rates over the period until the end of the next reporting
peniod. The analysis does not take into account exposure to fair value mterest rate nsk ansmg
from fixed rate mstruments as the Company does not hold any fixed rate instruments which
are measured at fair value in the finaneial statements. The analysis 1s performed on the same
basis for 2022

(b} Credit nisk
The Company's principal financial assets are bank balances, and accounts receivable.

All accounts receivable are neither past due nor impaired as of the end of reporting peniod. In
addition, management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to credit risk are monitored on
an ongoing basis.

The credit risk on bank deposits placed in a bank is limited because the bank is an anthorised
financial mstitation with high credit rating.

The Company's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. At the end of reporting period, the Company has a concentration of credit risk as 100%
(2022: 100%) of total accounts recetvable were due from the funds managed by the Company.

Other than concentration of credit risks on amounts due from funds managed by the Company and
liguid fimds which are deposited with a bank with high credit rating, the Company does not have amy
other significant concentration of credit nsk.
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

11. Financial risk management (cont'd)

()  Liquidity risk
The Company regularly monitors current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains adequate cash to meet its financial obligations and to fund its operating expenses on an on-
going basis. The liguidity of the Company is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain adequate
cash inflow from operations to meet its debt obligations.

The maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities as at the end of reporting peried, based on
the contracted undiscounted payment, was as follows:

Total
coniractual Morethan1l  More than 2
Carrying undiscounted Within 1 vear  vear but less  vears but less
amount cash flow or on demand  than 2 years  than 5 years

Uss Uss Uss Uss Us$
2023
Accounts payable
and accroals 6,689 343 6,689,343 6,589,343 - -
2022
Accounts payable
and accroals 797,595 797,595 797,595 - -

(d) Fawr value of financial mstruments
The fair values of financial assets and financial lhiabalihes are determined mm accordance with

generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carmrying amounts of financial assets and financial
lLiabilities recognised in the finamcial statements approximate to their fair values.
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Tower Asset Management Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2023

12.  Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and jndgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by defimtion, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the camying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below.

Impairment allowances of financial assets
The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumption about risk of default and expected loss

rates. The Company use judgement m making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the Impaimment
caleulation, based on the Company's past history, existing market conditions as well as forward-locking
estimates at the end of each reporting period.

13. Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for 1ssue by the board of directors on 19 July 2023,
The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Shinya Fujiwara

Tanya Campbell {Appomnted on 23 June 2023)
Colin Nestor (Resigned on 23 June 2023)
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Independent Auditor's Report

The Trustee
Tower K1 J-Fund

Report on the Audit of the Financia Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Tower K1 J-Fund (the “Fund”) which comprise the statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notesto
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in al material respects, the financial
position of the Fund as at 31 March 2023 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (1FRSS).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilitiesin accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 1.1 to the financial statements which describes that the financia statements for
the year ended 31 March 2023 have not been prepared on a going concern basis. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

Other Information

Other information consists of the information included in the Fund' s management and administration
listing. Management is responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
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statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and the Trustee for the Financia Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statementsin
accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financia statements, management is responsible for ng the Fund's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Trustee is responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financia Statements

Our report is made solely to you, as abody, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements as awhole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with | SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financia statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.
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- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonabl eness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by management.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting.
When such use is inappropriate and management uses an alternative basis of accounting, we
conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the alternative basis of accounting. We
also evaluate the adequacy of the disclosures describing the alternative basis of accounting and
reasons for its use. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’'s report.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in amanner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Trustee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficienciesin internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Ernst & Young Ltd.

Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands
4 August 2023

)

208/213



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2023 31
HKICPA HKFRSs
2023 31
HKICPA HKSAs
HKICPA
HKICPA HKFRSs
HKSAs
HKSAs

209/213



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

FTW CPA

2023 19

1 P05214

210/213



EDINETOOOO
00000000 O00DbDO000DOoO0nonoEL4979)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

I ndependent Auditor's Report to the Members of
Tower Asset Management Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Tower Asset Management Limited ("the Company") set out
on pages 4 to 21 which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financia statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give atrue and fair view of the financial position of the Company
asat 31 March 2023, and of itsfinancial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA").

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethicsfor Professional Accountants ("the Code"), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of directors and those charged with governance for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give atrue and fair view in
accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic aternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

It isour responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financia statements
and to report our opinion solely to you, as abody, for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Our objectives are to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
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Reasonable assurance isa high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HK SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of interna control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonabl eness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financia statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to ceaseto
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in amanner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficienciesin interna

control that we identify during our audit.

FTW & Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 19 July 2023
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HO Cheung Kong
Practising Certificate Number: P05214
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